
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The City Bridge Trust Committee 

 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 14 MARCH 2018 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman) 

Dhruv Patel (Deputy Chairman) 
Karina Dostalova 
Simon Duckworth 
Peter Dunphy 
Marianne Fredericks 
Deputy the Revd Stephen Haines 
Alderman Alastair King 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Jeremy Mayhew 
Wendy Mead (Chief Commoner) 
Paul Martinelli 
Ian Seaton 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson 
The Rt. Hon. the Lord Mayor (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: Joseph Anstee  

tel. no.: 020 7332 1480 
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 12:45PM  

NB: Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio or video recording  
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 31 January 

2018. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 8) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 10) 

 
5. CBT BUSINESS PLAN 2018/19 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 11 - 24) 

 
6. PROGRESS REPORT 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 25 - 30) 

 
7. GRANT APPLICATIONS STATISTICAL REPORT 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 31 - 40) 

 
8. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 

ASSESSMENTS 
 To consider the Chief Grants Officer’s reports on grant recommendations as follows: - 

 
 For Decision 
 Index of Grant Recommendations (Pages 41 - 42) 

 
 a) Buttle UK (Pages 43 - 48) 
 
 b) Heart of the City (HOTC) (Pages 49 - 60) 
 



 

3 
 

 c) John Lyon's Charity/Young People's Foundations (Pages 61 - 66) 
 
 d) Moving on Up Project/Trust for London - Phase Two (Pages 67 - 68)  
 
 e) Women for Women Refugees (Pages 69 - 70)  
 
 f) BANG Edutainment Ltd (Pages 71 - 72)  
 
 g) Children's Trust (Pages 73 - 76) 
 
 h) Down's Syndrome Association (Pages 77 - 78) 
 
 i) Parochial Church Council of St. Mary, Stoke Newington (Pages 79 - 80)  
 
 j) Rethink Mental Illness (Pages 81 - 82) 
 
 k) Sense (Pages 83 - 86) 
 
 l) Community Empowerment and Support Initiatives (CESI) (Pages 87 - 88)  
 
 m) Royal Hospital Chelsea (Pages 89 - 90) 
 
 n) Saint Francis Hospice (Pages 91 - 92) 
 
 o) Alternatives Trust East London (Pages 93 - 94) 
 
 p) Community Links Trust Ltd (Pages 95 - 98) 
 
 q) Deptford Reach (Pages 99 - 100)  
 
 r) Hammersmith and Fulham Law Centre (Pages 101 - 104)  
 
 s) Help Somalia Foundation (Pages 105 - 106)  
 
 t) TaxAid UK (Pages 107 - 108) 
 
 
9. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER (CGO) AND 

DIRECTOR OF CITY BRIDGE TRUST AS FOLLOWS: - 
 

For Decision/Information 
 

 a) The Prince's Trust Strategic Grant (Pages 109 - 118) 
 
 b) Grants Recommended for Rejection (Pages 119 - 124) 
 
 c) Grants Approved under Delegated Authority (Pages 125 - 128)  
 
 d) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications (Pages 129 - 132)  
 
 e) Variations to Grants Awarded (Pages 133 - 134) 



 

 

 f) Reports on Learning Visits (Pages 135 - 142)  
 
 g) City Bridge Trust Communications and Events Attended (Pages 143 - 160) 
 
 
10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT 
 
12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
 

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 
 
13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2018. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 161 - 164) 

 
14. STEPPING STONES FUND FINANCE FACILITY - TO FOLLOW 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Decision 
  
15. MOVING ON UP PROJECT/TRUST FOR LONDON - PHASE TWO 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 165 - 172) 

 
16. CORNERSTONE FUND - DRAFT FUNDING PRIORITIES 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 173 - 178) 

 
17. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS 
 Report of the Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge Trust 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 179 - 182) 

 
18. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 



 

5 
 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 

Part 3 - Confidential Agenda 
 
20. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES 
 To agree the confidential minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2018. 

 
 For Decision 



This page is intentionally left blank



THE CITY BRIDGE TRUST COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 31 January 2018  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the The City Bridge Trust Committee held at the 
Guildhall EC2 at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman) 
Dhruv Patel (Deputy Chairman) 
Marianne Fredericks 
Alderman Alastair King 
Deputy Edward Lord 
 

Wendy Mead (Chief Commoner) 
Paul Martinelli 
Ian Seaton 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson 
 

 
Officers: 
Joseph Anstee - Town Clerk's Department 

Karen Atkinson - Chamberlain's Department 

Anne Pietsch - Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department 

David Farnsworth - Chief Grants Officer 

Sandra Davidson - The City Bridge Trust 

Jenny Field - The City Bridge Trust 

Martin Hall - The City Bridge Trust 

Kate Moralee - The City Bridge Trust 

Ciaran Rafferty - The City Bridge Trust 

Shegufta Rahman - The City Bridge Trust 

Tim Wilson - The City Bridge Trust 

Kristina Drake - Communications Team 

Fiona Rawes - Town Clerk's Department 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from the Right Hon. the Lord Mayor Alderman Charles 
Bowman, Peter Dunphy, Deputy Revd. Stephen Haines, Karina Dostalova and 
Jeremy Mayhew. Apologies for lateness were received from the Chief 
Commoner and Marianne Fredericks. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
Ian Seaton declared a personal interest in London Youth by virtue of his Livery 
Company‟s support for it, and in Chicken Shed. 
 
The Chairman and Edward Lord declared personal interests in Trust for 
London. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Deputy Chairman declared a personal interest in the Clothworker‟s 
Company. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 23 November 2017 be agreed as an accurate record.  
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Committee received a list of outstanding actions. The Committee noted 
that the terms of reference and task and finish group was on the agenda. The 
Chief Grants Officer informed the Committee that of the Bridge 
Fund/Cornerstone Fund applications 9 grants totalling £221,000 had been 
awarded by delegated authority, and further details would be brought to the 
next meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Outstanding Actions update be noted. 
 

5. ANNUAL REVIEW OF TERMS OF REFERENCE  
The Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk reviewing the 
Committee‟s terms of reference. The updated terms of reference reflected the 
wider remit of the City Bridge Trust under the Bridging Divides Strategy, aiming 
to use the total assets of the Trust beyond grant funding. The Committee noted 
a tabled version of the appendix that was clearer, with corrections made before 
the meeting. 
 
A Member suggested that The Rt. Hon. The Lord Mayor‟s position on the 
Committee might be better served as a patron or guest rather than an ex-officio 
Member, as the Lord Mayor was unable to attend Committee meetings. The 
Committee asked that officers look into the background and history of the Lord 
Mayor‟s ex-officio membership on the Committee ahead of the next Committee 
meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the revised terms of reference of the Committee be 
approved for submission to the Court as set out. 
 

6. DELEGATED AUTHORITY  
The Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk concerning the 
Committee‟s delegated authority policy. The report proposed that provision be 
made for delegated authority decisions to be made in the absence of the 
Chairman or Deputy Chairman by a nominee. 
 
RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust‟s delegated authority provision be 
amended as set out. 
 

7. PROGRESS REPORT  
The Committee received the regular progress report of the Chief Grants Officer 
and discussed the updates provided. 
 
 
 

Page 2



GLA Oversight Committee 
 
The Chief Grants Officer reported that he had attended a GLA Oversight 
Committee hearing following the Grenfell disaster, and gave evidence with 
regards the City Bridge Trust‟s response to the disaster. Several inquiries were 
still ongoing and there would be press on the matter to follow. 
 
Bridge House Estates task and finish group 
 
The Committee was informed that the task and finish group had now met twice 
bringing together work streams from across the City of London Corporation. 
The strategic review of Bridge House Estates was important for the City Bridge 
Trust to capitalise on in order to deliver the aims of the Bridging Divides 
Strategy and to be the best possible trustee it could be. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

8. GRANT APPLICATIONS STATISTICAL REPORT  
The Committee received a summary of applications received and action taken 
under the grants programmes this financial year, including those recommended 
for decision to this meeting. The Committee was on track to spend its grants 
budget for 2017/18 with 2 meetings remaining in the year including this one. 
 
A Member noted that the Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders was the 
programme with the lowest amount allocated in grants, and queried whether 
this was expected. The Chief Grants Officer replied that it was an area for 
specialist organisations and fewer organisations in this area qualified for City 
Bridge Trust grants under the current criteria. Officers would consult with HM 
Prison Service in the future to determine where there might be gaps in 
provision. 
 
A Member asked if it would be encouraging for applicants if it was advertised 
that 55% of applications were recommended for approval. The Chief Grants 
Officer responded that each application was considered on merit, and as some 
applications were for very specialist services an overall success rate could be 
misleading. The City Bridge Trust had quite a high success rate in comparison 
to other funders, although this might change under the new strategy.  
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

9. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 
ASSESSMENTS  
 
a) Federation of London Youth Clubs  
 
The Chief Grants Officer introduced the application and clarified an issue raised 
by a Member regarding the charity‟s finances. The charity had made a payment 
to an associated charity which had appeared in their accounts as a grant. The 
Committee was assured that this payment was made by way of reimbursement 

Page 3



of an earlier loan received from the associated charity as they had been unable 
to repay it at the time. 
 
RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee agree a grant of £400,000 
over one year for a range of activities for the benefit of voluntary managed 
youth organisations and their beneficiaries in London. 
 
b) Bridge Renewal Trust  
 
The Chief Grants Officer proposed adding a condition that a satisfactory 
workplan should be provided for the first year. The Committee agreed the 
recommendation with the added condition. 
 
APPROVED £105,000 over two years (£56,700; £48,300) towards the salary of 
a f/t Director for Haringey Giving, as part of the London‟s Giving network of 
place-based giving schemes on condition that a satisfactory workplan be 
provided for the first year. 
 
c) Camden Giving  
 
APPROVED £60,000 over two years (2 x £30,000) towards the salary of a f/t 
Relationship Manager on condition that the required balance can be raised, 
satisfactory quarterly management accounts and that a satisfactory reserves 
policy is in place. 
 
d) Community Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers  
 
APPROVED £84,520 (£27,520; £27,780; £29,220) towards the salary costs of 
the Project Coordinator (2.5 days per week) and associated running costs of 
the ESOL programme. 
 
e) High Trees Community Development Trust  
 
APPROVED £133,300 over three years (£43,800; £44,400, £45,100) towards 
the cost of a Project Coordinator (2 dpw), Lead ESOL Tutor (12 hpw), Assistant 
ESOL Tutor (8 hpw) and associated project costs. 
 
f) Helen Bamber Foundation  
 
APPROVED £100,000 over two further and final years (2 x £50,000) towards 
the f/t salary of the Head Therapist and associated costs for the delivery, 
evaluation and dissemination of the three-stage process to recovery for 
individuals in London exposed to enduring trauma. 
 
g) Ealing Mencap  
 
APPROVED £77,200 over 3 years (£26,100, £25,600, £25,500) for a p/t (3 
days per week) Travel and transport Advice caseworker and associated project 
costs, with funding released on receipt of satisfactory quarterly management 
accounts. 

Page 4



 
h) Eye Music Trust  
 
APPROVED £87,900 over three years (£29,300; £29,300; £29,300) toward the 
sessional staff, workshops, coordination, and associated running costs to 
deliver a mobile „Colourscape‟ in Special Educational Needs Schools across 
London. 
 
i) Millwall Community Trust  
 
APPROVED £111,400 over three years (£38,600, £36,300, £36,500) towards 
the salary of an Independent Living Officer (21 hpw) and associated project and 
administration costs for a project working with disabled young Londoners aged 
16-25. 
 
j) Vital Xposure  
 
APPROVED £57,200 over two years (2 x £28,600) towards the costs of Vital 
Xposure‟s work to develop and deliver inclusive theatre. The funding is offered 
on the condition that the full balance of funds required is raised from other 
sources. 
 
k) Entelechy Arts Limited  
 
APPROVED £120,000 over 3 years (3 x £40,000) for the salary of a Volunteer 
Co-ordinator (0.6FTE), Project Administrator (0.4FTE) and towards the 
associated running costs for the Meet Me on the Move, Meet Me at the Movies 
and befriending programme. 
 
l) Irish Chaplaincy in Britain  
 
APPROVED £105,000 over three years (3 x £35,000) for the f/t salary of a 
Pastoral Outreach Worker and associated project costs. 
 
m) Spitalfields Music  
 
The Committee noted that the applicant was already in receipt of a grant from 
the City of London Corporation‟s Education Trust, but that this was completely 
transparent and discrete and should not affect their consideration of the 
application. 
 
APPROVED £90,000 over three years (3 x £30,000) towards “The Endless 
Imagination” arts programme in care homes on the condition that the charity 
raises the balance of funds from other sources. 
 
n) East European Resource Centre  
 
APPROVED £110,300 over three years (£36,100; £36,800; £37,400) for the 
part-time Senior Welfare Advice Worker (0.6FTE); Helpline and Support Officer 

Page 5



(0.4FTE); and associated running costs to provide welfare advice and support 
to the Eastern European community across London. 
 
o) Homeless Action in Barnet Limited  
 
APPROVED £90,000 over three years (3 x £30,000) towards the salary, 
support and management costs of a full-time Resettlement Officer at Homeless 
Action in Barnet Limited. 
 
p) Positive East  
 
APPROVED £111,900 over three years (£6,200, £37,300, £38,400) for the full-
time post of Advice Service Worker. 
 

10. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS 
FOLLOWS:-  
 
a) Applications Recommended for Rejection  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer detailing a total of 
18 grant applications for rejection. 
 
A Member asked for clarification on the reason for rejecting the application from 
the Tottenham Hotspur Foundation. The Chief Grants Officer explained that 
there were several issues with the application, but the timing of reserves could 
be re-examined. 
 
RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee reject the grant 
applications detailed in the accompanying schedule, excluding Tottenham 
Hotspur Foundation which was deferred until the next meeting. 
 
b) Funds Approved under Delegated Authority  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of seventeen expenditure items, totalling £150,975, which had been 
presented for approval under delegated authority to the Chief Grants Officer in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received, and its contents noted. 
 
c) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which provided 
details of nine applications which had been withdrawn or had lapsed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 
d) Variations to Grants Awarded  
 

Page 6



The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of a variation to eleven grants agreed by the Chief Grants Officer 
since the last meeting. 
 
The Committee also noted that a total of £6,400 across thirteen individual eco-
audits funded over the past three years had been revoked. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 
e) Reports on Learning Visits  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer about two visits 
that had taken place.  
 
The Committee noted positive feedback about the City Bridge Trust from 
Muscular Dystrophy UK. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 
f) City Bridge Trust Communications & Events Attended  
 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer updating on the 
communications work of the City Bridge Trust. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be received and its contents noted. 
 

11. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item No.     Exempt Paragraphs 
14 – 17      3 
18 – 19                                                           - 
20 – 21                                                           3 
 

14. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
The Committee considered the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 23 
November 2017. 
 
 

Page 7



15. IMPLEMENTATION OF BRIDGING DIVIDES STRATEGY 2018 - 2023  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 

16. STEPPING STONES FUND - PROGRESS TO DATE AND PROPOSALS FOR 
2018  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 

17. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 

18. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was no other business. 
 

20. CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
The Committee considered the confidential minutes of the meeting on 23 
November 2017. 
 

21. RESOURCING OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF BRIDGING DIVIDES  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 3.20 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee  
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480 
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

 

The City Bridge Trust Committee – Outstanding Actions 
 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be 
completed/ 
progressed 

to next stage 

Progress Update 

1. 
20 
September 
2017 

“Task & Finish” group to be 
established to look at how the City 
of London Corporation could be 
the most effective trustee of Bridge 
House Estates 

CBT Team 
and Town 
Clerk 

March 2018 In progress 

2. 
31 January 
2018 

Individual Member Skills Audit and 
Committee Effectiveness 
Evaluation 

CBT Team 
and Town 
Clerk 

March 2018 

Final versions drafted following 
Members’ feedback and circulated 
to Members for submission 

3. 
31 January 
2018 

Committee Membership 
Town Clerk 
and 
Comptroller 

March 2018 
To look into the Lord Mayor’s ex-
officio position on the Committee 

4. 
31 January 
2018 

Officers to consult with HM Prison 
Service about gaps in the 
provision 

CBT Team March 2018 In progress 

5. 
31 January 
2018 

Spitalfields Music CBT Team March 2018 
To seek clarification of all the 
Corporation funding to this charity 

 
 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 10



Committee: 
 

Date: 
 

City Bridge Trust (CBT) 
 

14 March 2018 

Subject: 
CBT Business Plan 2018/19 
 

Public 
 

Report of:  Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of 
City Bridge Trust 
 

For Decision 
 

Report author:  Scott Nixon, Head of Projects 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report presents for information the final high-level business plan for City Bridge 
Trust for 2018/19.  This builds on the draft considered by Members at the November 
2017 CBT Committee. 
 
 

Recommendation 
 

 Members are asked to approve the City Bridge Trust’s final high-level 
business plan for 2018/19 and provide feedback. 

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. As part of the new framework for corporate and business planning, CBT, as the 

charitable funding arm the charity of Bridge House Estates, was asked to 
produce a standardised high-level, 2-side business plan for the first time in 
2017/18. Plans from every department of the Corporation and relevant teams, 
including CBT, were presented as drafts to the relevant Committees in 
January/February 2017 and as finals for formal approval in May/June 2017. 
Members generally welcomed these high-level plans for being brief, concise, 
focused and consistent statements of the key ambitions and objectives. 
 

2. For 2018/19, CBT was asked to produce a high-level plan in draft, which was 
presented to your Committee alongside the CBT Budget report in November 
2017, so that draft ambitions could be discussed at the same time as draft 
budgets. This represented a first step towards integrating budget-setting and 
priority-setting. 

 
3. Whilst CBT is guided by the City of London Corporation’s Corporate Plan and will 

align wherever feasible, governance requirements (namely the Corporation being 
the sole corporate trustee of the underlying charity Bridge House Estates) mean 
that CBT is required to follow the funding strategy approved by the Court of 
Common Council, on recommendation of the CBT Committee.   

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 
4. Discussions are however taking place on how best CBT can align with other key 

corporate processes such as workforce planning and risk management, where it 
is in the best interests of the charity.  The next step will be the presentation of the 
overarching budget alongside the refreshed Corporate Plan at the Court of 
Common Council in March 2018. 
 

5. With these key documents in place and a new corporate performance 
management process being brought forward the City Corporation will be able to 
deliver its charitable objectives and to drive activities to deliver on corporate 
priorities. Resources will be allocated in full knowledge of where it can achieve 
most impact on the issues and opportunities faced by the City, London and the 
UK.  The Corporation’s activity and its Corporate Plan will provide greater clarity 
as to opportunities for CBT to work with its trustee to deliver the Bridging Divides 
Funding Strategy. 

 
6. Work is also taking place on reviewing the content and format of the supporting 

detail that will sit beneath the high-level business plans. This includes: 
information about inputs (e.g. IT, workforce, budgets, property and assets); 
improved links to risk registers; value for money assessments, and schedules of 
measures and key performance indicators for outputs and outcomes. This will be 
a key element in the move towards business planning becoming less of a 
document production process and more of a joined-up service planning process, 
linked to strategic objectives. 

 
Draft high-level plan 
 
7. This report presents at Appendix 1, the final high-level plan for 2018/19 for CBT. 
 
Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 

8. The CBT business plan aligns with the draft Corporate Plan as follows: 
 
a) To support a thriving economy: 

 
I. Businesses are trusted and socially and environmentally responsible 
II. We have access to the skills and talent we need 

 
b) To shape outstanding environments: 

 
I. We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration 

 
c) To contribute to a flourishing society:  

 
II. People are safe and feel safe 

III. People enjoy good health and wellbeing 
IV. People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full 

potential 
V. Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need 

 

Page 12



9. How CBT aligns with these objectives and Bridging Divides will be explored in 
more detail within the more detailed business plan. 

 
Conclusion 
 
10. This report presents the final high-level plan for 2018/19 for CBT for members to 

approve. 
 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – High-level business plan 2018/19 

 Appendix 2 – Draft Corporate Plan 2018-2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Scott Nixon 
Head of Projects 
City Bridge Trust 
T: 020 7332 3722 
E: Scott.Nixon@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 13

mailto:Scott.Nixon@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 
C

it
y
 b

ri
d

g
e

 T
ru

s
t 

(C
B

T
) 

Our vision is for London to be a city where all individuals and communities can thrive. 

The corporate outcomes we aim to 
impact on are:  

 To support a thriving economy; 
specifically, outcomes 5 and 8. 

 To shape outstanding 
environments; specifically, 
outcomes 10 and 11. 

 To contribute to a flourishing 
society; specifically, outcomes 1, 
2, 3 and 4.  

CBT’s Bridging Divides Outcomes: 

 For London to be a city where all 
individuals and communities can 
thrive, especially those 
experiencing disadvantage and 
marginalisation. 

 To reduce inequality and grow 
more cohesive communities for a 
London that serves everyone. 

 To develop London further as a 
global hub for charitable giving 
and social investment.  

 To use all our financial and non-
financial assets, working 
collaboratively, to achieve our 
ambitions. 

 What we do is:  

 Charitable Funding:  We award grants totalling approx. £12M per year 
to charitable organisations across Greater London.  
The funding can support outcomes 1, 2, 3,4, 8, 10 and 11. 

 Social Investment: We manage the City of London Corporation’s Social 
Investment Fund which aims to achieve a positive financial return and 
demonstrable social benefit. 
This supports outcome 5, themes b and c. 

 Giving: We encourage individuals and businesses to give more time, 
money and skills/benefits in kind in a way that makes a positive 
difference.     
This supports outcome 5, theme d. 

 Strategic initiatives: We support initiatives including research, feasibility 
studies and conferences, often undertaken in partnership with other 
bodies. 
The funding can support outcomes 1, 2, 3,4, 8, 10 and 11. 

 Contract management: We manage the City of London Corporation’s 
Central Grants Unit (CGU) and the Wembley National Stadium Trust 
(WNST). 
WNST work supports outcome 3, theme d and CGU work supports 
outcome 10, theme c; outcome 8, theme d; outcome 11, theme c; and 
outcome 4; themes a and b. 

 

 Our budget is: 

CBT Budget info 
for Business 
Plan   

  £ 

Grants budget  
(central risk) (21,495,000) 

CBT operational 
budget (local risk) (2,349,000) 

Central recharges 
& depreciation (162,000) 

Wembley National 
Stadium Trust 
(admin fee) 111,000 

Central Grants 
Unit (admin fee) 85,000 

  (23,810,000) 
 

Our top line objectives are: 
To increase the quality and impact of our charitable funding by: 

 Implementing the 2018-2023 Bridging Divides Funding Strategy 

 Implementing the Evaluation and Learning Plan to underpin the delivery of the strategy. 

 Spending the charitable funding budget in full. 

 Making the most of our non-financial assets and those of our Trustee the Corporation (including networks, 
expertise and related charities) to deliver the strategy. 

 To deliver the WNST and CGU to an excellent standard. 

 What we’ll measure: 

 Progress against our strategic 
outcomes. 

 Staff’s use of knowledge and 
learning and its dissemination to 
other stakeholders. 

 Grant spend levels and funder 
plus uptake against each our 
funding priorities. 

 Use of the Corporation’s non-
financial resources by CBT. 

P
age 15

http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/what-we-do/social-investment/social-investment-fund/
http://www.citybridgetrust.org.uk/what-we-do/social-investment/social-investment-fund/


 
C

it
y
 b

ri
d

g
e

 T
ru

s
t 

(C
B

T
) 

 The satisfaction of the WNST 
and CGU clients 

To grow the social investment market by: 

 Implementing a fifth round of the Stepping Stones Fund which offers grants to organisations looking to become 
investment ready. 

 Committing a further £3million of the Social Investment Funding. 

 Modelling effective collaboration between private, public and voluntary sectors. 
 

  Increasing the quantity and 
quality of applications in the fifth 
round of the Stepping Stones 
Fund. 

 The social return on investment 
of the Fund’s investments. 

 Number of internal/external 
networks engaged. 

To ensure the Trust is led by strategic decisions and is customer focused by: 

 Ensuring all changes to charitable funding processes and Business Plan in the light of the Strategic Review are 
implemented. 

 Implementing and review all KPIs for grants assessment and management. 

 Continuing to encourage and respond to grantee feedback. 

 Ensuring officers keep up-to-date with the funding context. 
 

  Analysing the quality, breadth 
and number of applicants. 

 Analysing efficiencies in grant-
making processes, against 
agreed KPIs and benchmarking, 
including 
complaints/compliments. 

 Interaction with the website and 
social media platforms. 

To encourage more giving of time, money and skills in effective ways to support thriving communities by: 

 Developing a joint Giving Strategy that increases the collaboration and impact of the Trust, the City of London 
Corporation and Mansion House and links with the work of other key stakeholders and related charities. 

 

  Giving Strategy agreed and 
implemented. 

 Level of giving of time, money 
and benefits in kind across our 
trustee, the Corporation. 

How we plan to develop our capabilities this year:  

 Continue to review the Trust’s staffing resource and structure to ensure it is fit for purpose. 

 Maximise the input and engagement with Members of the CBT Committee and enable any relevant training. 

 Enable attendance of regular training/knowledge exchange for Officers for their Continuing Professional 
Development. 

 Review and implement the Trust’s due diligence and financial procedures for the delivery of ‘Bridging Divides’. 

  Occupancy of posts in 
agreed structure. 

 Attendance at training and 
charity visits. 

What we’re planning to do in the future: 

 Further embedding the 2018-2023 CBT Funding Strategy and to develop the ‘total assets’ approach with our trustee. 

 Review the implementation of the 2018-2023 Bridging Divides strategy, informed by third party review, and adjust working as a result. 

 Move towards full investment and further embed the balanced portfolio approach to our Social Investment Fund. 

 Continue to review the Learning and Evaluation Plan and adjust accordingly. 

 Continue to develop as a centre of excellence on charities and charitable funding and to share this expertise to enable others to increase their impact. 

 Contribute to the Bridge House Estates charitable review to ensure good practice and high impact. 

P
age 16



 
C

it
y
 b

ri
d

g
e

 T
ru

s
t 

(C
B

T
) 

 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 18



 

 

 

Our (draft) Corporate Plan for 2018 – 23 

Our vision 
The City of London Corporation is the governing body of the Square Mile 

dedicated to a vibrant and thriving City, supporting a diverse and sustainable 

London within a globally-successful UK. 

We aim to… 

 

 

 

 
 

 

By strengthening the character, capacity and connections  

of the City, London and the UK for the benefit of  

people who live, learn, work and visit here.  

 

Everything we do contributes towards the achievement of twelve outcomes: 

 

 

 
 

Contribute to a 

flourishing society 
 

1. People are safe and 

feel safe. 
 

2. People enjoy good 

health and wellbeing. 
 

3. People have equal 

opportunities to enrich 

their lives and reach 

their full potential. 

 

4. Communities are 

cohesive and have 

the facilities they 

need. 
 
 

Support a thriving 

economy  
 

5. Businesses are trusted 

and socially and 

environmentally 

responsible. 
 

6. We have the world’s 

best legal and 

regulatory framework 

and access to global 

markets. 
 

7. We are a global hub 

for innovation in 

finance and 

professional services, 

commerce and 

culture. 
 

8. We have access to 

the skills and talent we 

need. 

Shape outstanding 

environments 
 

9. We are digitally and 

physically well-

connected and 

responsive. 
 

10.We inspire enterprise, 

excellence, creativity 

and collaboration. 

 

11.We have clean air, 

land and water and a 

thriving and 

sustainable natural 

environment. 

 

12.Our spaces are 

secure, resilient and 

well-maintained. 
 

 
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

Contribute 

to a 

flourishing 

society 

Support a 

thriving 

economy 

Shape 

outstanding 

environments 

Page 19



 

 

Who we are 
The Square Mile is the historic centre of London and is home to the ‘City’ – the 

financial and commercial heart of the UK.  Our reach extends far beyond the 
Square Mile’s boundaries and across private, public and charitable and community 

sector responsibilities.  This, along with our independent and non-party political 

voice and convening power, enables us to promote the interests of people and 

organisations across London and the UK and play a valued role on the world-stage. 

Our responsibilities 

Beyond our statutory duties for the City, London and the UK, we are also responsible  

for a wide portfolio of work and institutions both inside and outside the Square Mile.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Insert infographic(s) to be approved, which show our responsibilities within and 

beyond the Square Mile and how the City contributes to the UK’s public purse] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

Page 20



 

 

The coming five years 
2018-23 is likely to be another period of significant change on a global, national 

and regional level, bringing with it significant threats as well as opportunities.  
 

Preventing climate change, terrorism and cyber-crime, and countering their 

effects, will remain high priorities. So too will retaining the UK’s competitiveness, in 

the context of Brexit, increases in the cost of living and reductions in public sector 

spending. 

 

Disruptive changes, such as the digitisation of our work and personal lives, are likely 

to bring both threats and opportunities to our residents, workers, visitors, partners 

and our own organisation.  

 

And, of course, things will happen that we’re not expecting but that we will want 

to respond to positively and constructively. 
 

Our commitments 
To do so, we will need to be relevant, responsible, reliable and radical as an 

organisation. We will need to think and act strategically and at pace. And we will 

need to ensure that everyone can share in the benefits we aim to create. 

 

This means as individuals we must be open: to unlocking the full potential of our 

many assets – our people, heritage, green and urban spaces, funds, data and 

technology; to trying new things and learning as we go; and to working with our 

stakeholders and partners who share our aims. 

How we’ll use this plan 
This plan is designed to be used as a strategic framework to guide our thinking and 

decision-making and help ensure that everything we do takes us closer to 

achieving our vision.  

 

It sets out our vision, the aims and outcomes that drive us, our responsibilities, 

challenges and commitments and the high-level actions we’ll take to help our 

elected Members and staff see where to focus their efforts to achieve sustainable 

systemic change. 

 

In year one we will use it to develop our strategic priorities, to decide how best to 

go about delivering them, to allocate resources towards pursuing them and to find 

out what effect we are having as a result.  

 

Over the five-year term of the plan we will use it to identify where we need to 

innovate, with whom we can collaborate and how we can align and drive all our 

activities to achieve the greatest possible impact on the things we feel are 

important.  

 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

Page 21



 

To contribute to a flourishing society 
 

We will… 

 

1. People are safe and feel safe 

- Prepare our response to natural and man-made threats. 

- Tackle terrorism, violent and acquisitive crime, fraud, cyber-crime and 

anti-social behaviour and facilitate justice. 

- Protect consumers and users of buildings, streets and public spaces. 

- Safeguard children, young people and adults at risk. 

- Educate and reassure people about safety. 
 

 

 

2. People enjoy good health and wellbeing 

- Promote equality and inclusion in health through outreach to our 

working, learning and residential communities and better service 

design and delivery. 

- Raise awareness of factors affecting mental and physical health. 

- Provide advice and signposting to activities and services. 

- Provide inclusive access to facilities for physical activity and recreation. 

 

 

 

3. People have equal opportunities to enrich their lives and reach their full 

potential 

- Promote and champion diversity, inclusion and the removal of 

institutional barriers and structural inequalities. 

- Provide access to world-class heritage, culture and learning to people 

of all ages, abilities and backgrounds. 

- Promote effective progression through fulfilling education and 

employment. 

- Cultivate excellence in academia, sport and creative and performing 

arts. 

 
 

 

4. Communities are cohesive and have the facilities they need 

- Bring individuals and communities together to share experiences and 

promote wellbeing, mutual respect and tolerance. 

- Support access to suitable community facilities, workspaces and visitor 

accommodation. 

- Help provide homes that London and Londoners need. 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

 

Page 22



 

To support a thriving economy 
We will… 

 

5. Businesses are trusted and socially and environmentally responsible 

- Champion the ease, reliability and cost-effectiveness of doing business 

here. 

- Model new ways of delivering inclusive and sustainable growth. 

- Support, celebrate and advocate responsible practices and 

investments. 

- Advocate and facilitate greater levels of giving of time, skills, 

knowledge, advice and money. 

 

 

 

6. We have the world’s best legal and regulatory framework and access 

to global markets 

- Promote regulatory confidence founded on the rule of law. 

- Influence UK and global policy and regulation and international 

agreements to protect and grow the UK economy. 

- Lead nationally and advise internationally on the fight against 

economic and cyber-crime. 

- Attract and retain investment and promote exports of goods and 

services across multiple global markets.  

 

 

 

7. We are a global hub for innovation in financial and professional 

services, commerce and culture  

- Support organisations in pioneering, preparing for and responding to 

changes in regulations, markets, products and ways of working. 

- Strengthen local, regional, national and international relationships to 

secure new opportunities for business, collaboration and innovation. 

- Preserve and promote the City as the world-leading global centre for 

financial and professional services, commerce and culture. 

- Promote London for its creative energy and competitive strengths. 

- Promote the UK as open to business and enterprise and for its world-

leading education offer. 

 

 

 

8. We have access to the skills and talent we need 

- Promote the City, London and the UK as attractive and accessible 

places to live, learn, work and visit. 

- Champion access to global talent. 

- Identify future skills needs, shortages and saturations. 

- Champion investment in relevant skills and diverse talent pools. C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

Page 23



 

To shape outstanding environments 

We will… 
 

  

9. We are digitally and physically well-connected and responsive 

- Champion and facilitate a world-leading digital experience. 

- Develop and trial smart innovations and better manage demand. 

- Advocate ease of access via air, rail, road, river and sea. 

- Improve the experience of arriving in and moving through our spaces. 

 

 

 

10. We inspire enterprise, excellence, creativity and collaboration 

- Provide world-class spaces for businesses and markets to thrive. 

- Curate a vibrant, attractive and complementary blend of uses of 

space. 

- Create and transform buildings, streets and public spaces for people to 

admire and enjoy. 

- Protect, curate and promote world-class heritage assets, cultural 

experiences and events. 

- Champion a distinctive and high-quality residential, worker, student 

and visitor offer. 

 

 

 

11. We have clean air, land and water and a thriving and sustainable 

natural environment. 

- Provide a clean environment and drive down the negative effects of 

our own activities. 

- Provide thriving and biodiverse green spaces and urban habitats. 

- Provide environmental stewardship and advocacy, in use of resources, 

emissions, conservation, greening, biodiversity and access to nature. 

- Influence UK and global policy and regulation and international 

agreements to protect the environment. 

 

 

 

12. Our spaces are secure, resilient and well-maintained  

- Maintain our buildings, streets and public spaces to high standards. 

- Build resilience to natural and man-made threats by strengthening, 

protecting and adapting our infrastructure, directly and by influencing 

others. 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

C
it
y
 o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

 C
o

rp
o

ra
ti
o

n
 

Page 24



 

Committee:  
City Bridge Trust  
 

Dated:  
14th March 2018 

Subject: Progress Report 
 

Public 
 

Report of:  
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City 
Bridge Trust 
 

For Information 
 

 
 

Summary 
 
This is a regular report by the CGO. You are asked within this report to note updates 
on the following: 
 

 Bridging Divides, charitable funding strategy implementation 

 Youth Providers‟ Event – Collaboration and Leadership 

 Peer to Peer Grantee support grant 

 Bridge to Work – mental health grant 

 Charities and Safeguarding 

 Spitalfields Music 
 

 
Recommendation 

 

a) That the report be noted. 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Introduction 
 

1. You will recall that you have agreed that each of the City Bridge Trust (CBT) 
Committee Meetings will begin with a presentation on a particular aspect of 
the work you support.  On this occasion, we are trialling a different format with 
a pre-committee working lunch in the Members‟ private dining room. Clare 
Thomas and Deborah Xavier who have been engaged by London Funders, 
through CBT strategic initiative funding, to support the development of local 
giving schemes in London will be speaking to you over the lunch. 
 

2. Inspired by Islington Giving, London‟s Giving aims to promote place-based 
giving initiatives within London boroughs.  You are currently funding London 
Funders, as a strategic initiative, to develop this movement at the local level 
and to share the learning.  In addition, you are funding several local giving 
schemes, also as strategic initiatives, with their development costs.   
 

3. Local giving schemes play an important role in helping to build stronger, more 
resilient communities and therefore closely align with your new Bridging 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



Divides strategy whose vision is for a London where all individuals and 
communities can thrive.  When you launch your new programmes in April, 
local giving schemes will be a specific priority under the „Connecting the 
Capital‟ programme. 
 

4. There are currently 12 local giving schemes operating in London, with a 
further 11 currently under development.  Whilst each scheme benefits from 
being part of the London‟s Giving network and sharing learning from one 
another, each scheme is quite different, being characterised by local 
conditions.   

 
Bridging Divides Charitable funding Strategy implementation 
 

5. Work continues on the implementation of the Bridging Divides Strategy 2018 
– 2023, following your approval of the proposed programme priorities and 
overarching funding policies at your last meeting. 

 
Learning Partner  
 

6. A Learning Partner, Renaisi, has been appointed through competitive tender 
to work with us during the period of Bridging Divides.  Renaisi is a social 
enterprise whose mission is to help people and places to thrive.  It is currently 
engaged as a learning partner with a number of trusts and foundations, 
including the Citizenship Integration Initiative that you are funding in 
partnership with the Greater London Assembly (GLA), Trust for London, 
Unbound Philanthropy, Paul Hamlyn Foundation and Pears Foundation. 

 
7. The inception meeting has now taken place and the partnership will 

commence with a workshop for CBT staff to explore the challenges presented 
by the strategy and the potential insights that its delivery may present.  How 
the Trust enables inclusion of those who are disadvantaged or marginalised 
will be at the heart of Renaisi‟s work.   

 
8. One to one meetings with key members of staff and the Chairman and Deputy 

Chairman to discuss the proposed evaluation activities will follow soon after.  
Other outputs will include six-monthly reports focusing on key external trends 
and changes affecting the London context and changes, including within the 
policy environment.  A succinct report will be produced annually report with 
clear, practical recommendations for how to improve the way that the Trust 
„lives‟ its values and how these are embedded in the Bridging Divides 
strategy.  It is proposed that present this to Members at the CBT strategic half 
away-day. 

 
Funder Plus 
 

9. At your November meeting, we set out proposals for improving your Funder 
Plus offer and better aligning it with other funders.  To this end, we held a very 
positive roundtable for interested parties on 30th January 2018.  There is a 

Page 26



strong appetite to work together to improve our respective offers. A further 
update will be brought to your next meeting. 

 
Training 
 

10. Two well-received workshops have been held and a third is planned for CBT 
staff, looking at what it means to be a vision and values-led funder and how it 
might change how we work.  Training for Committee Members is in the 
process of being arranged. 

 
Sense checking 
 

11. Work is underway to re-draft the Members Handbook which in turn will 
provide content for our website.  A cross-sectoral roundtable has been 
arranged on 26th March 2018, with approximately 10 civil society 
organisations, representing the range of work that you support, with a view to 
them acting as critical friends and to „sense check‟ the content. 

 
Youth Providers Event – Collaboration and Leadership 
 

12. An event was held at Mansion House on 15th January (at the invitation of 
Alderman Peter Estlin) to examine what might be required to enable and 
encourage organisations in the youth sector in London to collaborate and 
work more closely together. Also up for discussion was how to support 
leadership development. (The format of the event was similar to that which 
you instigated last year to look at how the LGBT sector could be supported.) 

 
13. After the Chairman‟s introduction an invited audience of 35 heard 

presentations from some of London‟s key providers. All spoke of their 
commitment to supporting better collaboration with small, local, providers. The 
second part of the seminar saw delegates split into smaller groups to discuss 
four questions on collaboration and leadership. 

 
14. Some of the key points raised included: the need to initiate and enable 

networking opportunities between groups; support leadership development 
programmes; support good partnerships – those which underpin equalities 
and which respect and sustain all partners; support place-based approached 
to providing services. 

 
15. Some of the key points raised will be incorporated within the implementation 

of the Bridging Divides strategy where, for example, your officers will look to 
facilitate networking opportunities. Your officers are also discussing with other 
key agencies how, together, we might be able to support leadership training. 

 
16. A “quick-win” from the seminar occurred in the week following it when two key 

organisations met to discuss how they would work more effectively together in 
the future – which until then had been something of an obstacle. 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



Peer to Peer Grantee support grant 
 

17.  A small delegated grant has been made to fund peer support between two 
existing CBT grantees, a new departure for CBT. Instead of offering the 
support of an external consultant, the skills and experience of a CBT grantee 
working in the same sector will offer a combination of knowledge, support and 
useful networking connections to a new CEO who is acting up, during a period 
of substantial development and change. CBT funding has been awarded to 
deliver between six and ten mentoring sessions, at which the acting CEO will 
be supported to tackle a range of operational, programmatic, governance and 
finance-related challenges. It is hoped that this grant will provide a model for 
Peer to Peer grantee support that can be scaled-up as part of Bridging 
Divides, reflecting the value of being adaptive, creative and purposeful.  

 

Bridge to Work – mental health grant 
 

18. In June 2017, the Court of Common Council agreed a grant to the Centre for 
Mental Health for the mental health strand of the Bridge to Work programme. 
The grant funds the implementation of Individual Placement Support (IPS) in 
two locations in London, supporting individuals to enter employment shortly 
after diagnosis. Support, training, clinical care and welfare advice are offered 
while individuals are ‟on the job‟ in the belief that treatment for mental ill health 
is complemented by individuals being employed. Following the project‟s 
development stage, IPS employment services in Bromley and Newham 
commenced in December and January respectively and have both been 
attracting referrals. Bromley has received 55 referrals and has 7 paid work 
outcomes to date.  Newham has received 42 referrals and has 2 paid work 
outcomes. These figures are in line with agreed outcome targets for this grant 
and refers to the intensity of the interventions. 

 
19. Each project is delivered in partnership with local Mind partners (Mind in 

Tower Hamlets & Newham, and Bromley & Lewisham Mind) and both are 
being supported by the Centre for Mental Health‟s CBT funded Manager, to 
bid - through the local Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships for NHS 
England - for transition funding (from the Five Year Forward View initiative). 
Each bid will initially propose to increase the numbers of workers in the IPS 
teams during 2018-2020, with plans in place to extend their provision into 
Greenwich in 2019-2021. If successful, these bids will double the numbers of 
people who can be helped by the CBT funded service, and crucially, will 
ensure that the local Mind services have the best chance of mainstream 
funding after the two years of CBT grant funding.  This is a good potential 
example of how CBT funds may be used as leverage. 

 
Charities and Safeguarding 
 

20. Members will be aware of the recent safeguarding issues affecting some 
major charities.  

 
In December 2017, the Charity Commission re-issued its guidance on 
safeguarding and affirmed that “Safeguarding should be a key governance 

Page 28



priority for trustees. Any failure by trustees to manage safeguarding risks 
adequately is of serious regulatory concern to the Commission.” 

 
21. It reminded the charity sector that safeguarding applies to all charities – not 

just those working with children or with vulnerable adults – as it includes 
responsibilities for keeping staff, volunteers, etc safe from harm and goes 
beyond preventing physical abuse, to include protecting people from harm 
generally, including neglect, emotional abuse, exploitation, radicalisation, and 
the consequences of the misuse of personal data. 

 
22. The Association of Charitable Foundations (ACF) held a half-day seminar last 

month to discuss some of the issues from funders‟ perspectives. At the 
seminar, attended by 12 other funders, we were reminded of the following: 

 

 Where a charity funds other organisations, such as overseas partners, that 
work with children or adults at risk, its trustees should carry out appropriate 
due diligence so that they can be confident that their partner has in place 
appropriate safeguarding policies and procedures. Trustees should be 
confident that the partner is capable of delivering the proposed activities or 
services and has in place appropriate systems of control, including adequate 
safeguarding policies and procedures. 

 
23. Given the specific responsibility placed on charity funders by the Charity 

Commission, and the implementation of the new charitable funding strategy 
Bridging Divides, it is timely that CBT reviews our practices on how we can be 
assured of good practice within all grant recipients. Your officers will liaise 
with ACF, other funders, and with the City of London‟s Director of Community 
and Children‟s Services to undertake this review and we will report findings 
and recommendations to your May Committee. 

 
Spitalfields Music 
 

24. At your last Committee a grant was approved for Spitalfields Music (SM) to 
provide arts and music engagement to reduce isolation and increase physical 
activity and well-being for 180 residents in three care homes in East 
London.  Members requested an update on the other funding received by SM 
from the CoLC. Grants have been awarded to SM from City‟s Cash, City 
Fund, CBT and the City Educational Trust since 1996.  SM have a current 
grant awarded by the City Educational Trust in 2016/17 of £135,000 (Over 3 
years: 2016/17 - £45,000; 2017/18 - £45,000; 2018/19 - £45,000) for 
educational work associated with the festival.  SM has been advised that any 
future funding from CoLC will need to fit with the new programmes and 
eligibility criteria of the Central Grants Programme.   

 
 
 
David Farnsworth 
Director, City Bridge Trust 
T: 020 7332 3722 
E: David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 29

mailto:David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Grant Applications – statistical summary 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Information 
 

Report author:  Jemma Grieve Combes, Grants Officer 
 

 

 
 

Summary 
 

This paper summarises applications received and action taken under your grants 
programmes this financial year, including those recommended for decision to this 
meeting.  65 applications will be dealt with at today’s meeting, including 20 grant 
recommendations, and 15 grants to be noted as approved under delegated authority. 
The remaining 30 applications were either withdrawn, lapsed or are recommended 
for rejection.  
 

Recommendations 
Members are asked to: 

a) Note the report 
b) Consider the grant recommendations in the subsequent annexes 

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. This paper summarises action taken and proposed this financial year against the 
Trust’s total 2017/18 available funds (including Princes Trust) of £25,526,001.  
Chart 1 shows the allocations of funding against the Trust’s three current grant-
making streams.  This paper shows today’s funding decisions for each stream in 
the context of funds awarded to date and proposals for funds remaining. 

 

 
 
  

£16,908,901  £5,617,100  £3,000,000  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Chart 1: Fund allocation 2017/18 

Investing in Londoners Anniversary Programmes Prince’s Trust 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Core Investing in Londoners Grants Budget 2017/18 
 

2. In the first six meetings of 2017/18 the Trust committed 82% of the available 
funds for Investing in Londoners. Today’s meeting proposes commitments for the 
final 18% (26 requests for a total recommended sum of £3,017,887). You can see 
from Chart 2 that the spending rate at each Committee meeting is broadly in line 
with expectations of an even spend across the year (14% per meeting).   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3. Table 1 (below) shows the Investing in Londoners grants budget for the current 

year; the total amount already committed in 2017/18; the amount recommended 
at this meeting; and the balance remaining. The figure for write-backs and 
revocations of grants, or parts of grants, previously awarded is for the full year to 
date. The sum represents 3% of the annual grants budget and, as such, is not 
unduly high.  

  

[CELLRANGE] 
[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

[CELLRANGE] 

£0

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

£2,000,000

£2,500,000

£3,000,000

£3,500,000

May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Sep-17 Nov-17 Jan-18 Mar-18

Chart 2: 2017/18 Spending rate 

Page 32



 

 
 
 

4. The Trust is currently assessing Investing in Londoners applications, and 
Strategic Initiatives at a total value of £6,746,211. It would be fair to assume that 
approximately 55% of the grants requested would be eventually recommended. 
Any remaining Investing in Londoners applications recommended for approval in 
2018/19 will be committed against the first year of the Bridging Divides budget.  
 

Table 2: Proposed use of future years budget   

Value of submitted applications - under assessment £6,152,597 

Value of proposed strategic initiatives £593,614 

Total requests under assessment  £6,746,211 

 
5. Investing in Londoners has several strands and more detail is provided on spend 

by strand in appendix A. 
 

Table 1: Overall spend against 2017/18 Investing in Londoners grants budget

Grants budget Grants spend % spend of 

annual budget

Original Grants Budget £15,000,000

20th anniversary budget uplift £1,000,000

Write-Backs & Revocations in year to date £583,901 3%

Other income £51,000

Carry forward 2016/17 £274,000

Total Funds Available £16,908,901

May 2017+ £1,773,300 10%

June 2017 £1,965,850 12%

July 2017 £2,270,330 13%

Sept 2017 £2,613,829 15%

Nov 2017 £3,273,010 19%

Jan 2018 £1,994,695 12%

Sub-total approved spend £13,891,014 82%

Remaining budget £3,017,887

March 2018 - recommended grant spend £3,017,887 18%

March 2018 - recommended non-grant spend* £0 0%

Total spend recommended today £3,017,887 18%

Total annual spend £16,908,901 100%

Remaining budget £0 0%

Previous Committee meetings

Today's recommendations

Grants committed £13,891,014 82%

Spend recommended £3,017,887 18%

Balance remaining £0 0%

*This represents expenditure such as management costs of specific initiatives, evaluation activity or related research that is 

recommend for approval but will not be awarded as a grant to another charity

 +£108,000 of this is the budget that has been allocated to Strategic Review spend, carry forward from 2016/17

Summary

Page 33



6. In addition to the core Investing in Londoners budget, the Trust also manages 
20th Anniversary funding carried forward since 2015-16, which is designated for 
use towards employability and infrastructure programmes. A carry-forward 
budget was agreed for both programmes for 2017/18. 
    

Anniversary Programmes 
 

7. Anniversary Employability programme: Funds for the Anniversary 
Employability programme of £4,735,000 (i.e. Bridge to Work and Centre for 
Mental Health) have now been fully committed with no balance remaining, 
however as some of these commitments relate to fees and services, alongside 
the bursary scheme (for which a grant of £385,000 was made to Leonard 
Cheshire Disability following your meeting in May 2017), some amounts will be 
formally allocated in future years over the 5-year life of this programme. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

8. Anniversary Infrastructure Support: Your Infrastructure Support Anniversary 
programme had total available funds of £3,713,000. Of this, £2,830,900 is 
forecast to be committed in 2018/19 in line with the implementation of The Way 
Ahead and the Cornerstone Fund, following extensive consultation and liaison 
with the sector.  This leaves a balance of £882,100 available for the current year 
2017/18.  Of this, £660,000 has already been committed and the final £222,100 is 
reported as approved by delegated authority at today’s meeting. 
 

Budget Spend % spend of annual 

budget

Carry forward from previous years £2,735,000

2017/18 new budget £2,000,000

Total budget available £4,735,000

Spend at previous meetings in 2017/18

May-17 £4,735,000 100%

Current allocation- grants £3,860,568

              -fees and services £874,432

Recommended spend today £0 0%

Total spend £4,735,000 100%

Remaining budget £0 0%

Summary

Spend committed £4,735,000 100%

Spend recommended £0 0%

Balance remaining £0 0%

Table 3: Anniversary programme: employability (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

Page 34



 
 
 

Prince’s Trust 
 

9. The Trust has managed an annual grant award of £1,000,000 to The Prince’s 
Trust since 2014. This now forms part of the 3-year commitment of £3,000,000 
which is recommended for approval at today’s meeting. 

 

 
 
 
10.  Spending progress against the total 2017-18 grant allocation is summarised in 

Table 6 and shown in charts 3 and 4.  
 

 

 

Budget Spend % spend of annual 

budget

Carry forward from previous years £1,713,000

2017/18 budget £2,000,000

2018/19 forecast commitment (2,830,900)

Total budget available £882,100

Spend at previous meetings in 2017/18

Jul-17 £310,000 35%

Sep-17 £350,000 40%

Recommended grant spend today £222,100 25%

Recommended non-grant spend today* £0

Total spend £882,100 100%

Remaining budget £0 0%

Summary

Spend committed £660,000 75%

Spend recommended £222,100 25%

Balance remaining £0 0%

Table 4: Anniversary programme: infrastructure support (20th anniversary budget uplift of 40%)

*This represents expenditure such as management costs, evaluation activity or related research that is recommend for approval but 

will not be awarded as a grant to another charity

Budget Spend % spend of annual 

budget

2017/18 budget £3,000,000

Recommended grant spend today £3,000,000 100%

Summary

Balance remaining in 2017/18 £0

Table 5: Funding for Prince's Trust funding (agreed Oct 14)

2017-18 allocation Year to date Today's meeting

Balance 

remaining

Investing in 

Londoners £16,908,901 £13,891,014 £3,017,887 £0

Anniversary 

Programmes £5,617,100 £5,395,000 £222,100 £0

Prince’s Trust £3,000,000 £0 £3,000,000 £0

£25,526,001 £19,286,014 £6,239,987 £0

Table 6: Spending progress by grant programme

Page 35



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Jemma Grieve Combes 
Grants Officer (Monitoring and Evaluation) 
 

T: 020 7332 3174 
E: jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Page 36

mailto:jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix A – Detailed breakdown of Investing in Londoners’ spend for 2017-18 
 

Table 1 shows the grant awards you have made this financial year under Investing in Londoners and today’s recommendations 

by programme.1 

 

Table 1: Investing in Londoners awards and recommendations by programme 
   

  Number of grants Value of grants 

Fund/Program Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % total 
grants 

Year to 
date 

Today's 
meeting 

Total % 
total 
value 

English for Speakers of Other Languages 6 1 7 3% £437,720 £90,000 £527,720 3% 

Improving Londoners' Mental Health 10 1 11 5% £1,153,090 £120,000 £1,273,090 8% 

Improving London's Environment 7 1 8 4% £632,350 £47,800 £680,150 4% 

Making London More Inclusive 17 5 22 11% £1,837,460 £466,500 £2,303,960 14% 

Making London Safer 8 0 8 4% £951,300 £0 £951,300 6% 

Older Londoners 20 3 23 11% £1,900,600 £265,800 £2,166,400 13% 

Reducing Poverty 15 7 22 11% £1,582,540 £594,940 £2,177,480 13% 

Resettlement & Rehabilitation of 
Offenders 4 0 4 2% £370,300 £0 £370,300 2% 

Stepping Stones 16 0 16 8% £617,000 £0 £617,000 4% 

Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector 13 0 13 6% £1,560,844 £0 £1,560,844 9% 

Strategic Initiatives 17 5 22 11% £2,308,453 £1,103,950 £3,412,403 20% 

Partnership programme 0 1 1 0% £0 £324,697 £324,697 2% 

Eco-audits 9 1 10 5% £23,600 £2,200 £25,800 0% 

Access Audits 5 0 5 2% £10,530 £0 £10,530 0% 

Exceptional Grants 34 1 35 17% £335,915 £2,000 £337,915 2% 

Non-grant spend n/a n/a na/ n/a £169,312 £0 £169,312 1% 

Grand total 181 26 207 100% £13,891,014 £3,017,887 £16,908,901 100% 
 

                                                           
1
 Making London More Inclusive excludes access audits which are shown separately. 

P
age 37



1. Chart 5 (below) shows the flow of applications received over the last year and 
action taken, allowing any seasonal variations to be seen. This excludes 
Strategic Initiatives as they are usually solicited rather than open programmes. 

 

 
 

2. Between 1 April 2017 and 28 February 2018 326 applications were received for 
the Investing in Londoners programmes. Excluding the applications being 
considered at this meeting, 91 applications have been approved, 136 declined 
and 53 are pending. Some of the applications pending for several months are 
either still under consideration by your officers or have failed to provide 
information requested and will be lapsed in due course. The spike in applications 
seen in May 2017 is due to the closing date for a round of the Stepping Stones 
Fund.  Otherwise applications are fairly evenly spread across the year, which is 
comparable to previous years. 

 
3. Officers are asking you to consider 65 applications at this meeting, as presented 

in the subsequent annexes and reports. Of these, 20 are recommended for a 
grant and 15 are reported as having been approved under the scheme of 
delegations. A further 17 are recommended for rejection, 9 applications have 
been withdrawn by applicants, and 4 has been lapsed.  

  

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb

2017 2018

Grand Total 28 80 26 28 32 20 19 25 18 23 27

Today's meeting 0 0 1 3 1 2 7 12 10 3 7

Pending 1 1 0 0 1 1 3 4 4 18 20

Declined 13 47 13 13 19 12 7 6 4 2 0

Approved 14 32 12 12 11 5 2 3 0 0 0

28 

80 

26 28 
32 

20 19 

25 

18 
23 

27 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Chart 5: Applications received and action taken 
between 1 April 2017 and 28 February 2018 

Today's meeting

Pending

Declined

Approved

Page 38



 
 

Grants in Management 
 

The total of grants currently under the on-going management of your Grants Officers 
is shown in Table 3. Prior to the approvals recommended for this Committee, the 
total sum for grants currently being managed is £28,994,270. Should the Committee 
approve the applications proposed at today’s meeting, this balance will rise to 
£35,234,257. 
 
 

Table 3         
Grant commitments under management as at 28th February 2018   
          

Table for 2017/18 year-to-date   £   £ 
          
Prior year grant commitments brought-forward as at 31 March 2017   27,600,000 
          
          
Grant awarded in 2017/18   19,508,114     
Grant write-backs in 2017/18   (583,901)     

        18,924,213 
          
Payments made in 2017/18 to Grantees       (17,529,943) 
          

Current grant commitments as at 28 February 2018     28,994,270 

 

Table 2:  Action to be taken on applications today

Investing in Londoner's applications

Action to be taken Number Amount

Applications recommended for grant to Committee 20 £2,933,097

Funding approved by delegated authority up to £10,000 (to note) 4 £11,040

Funding approved by delegated authority from £10,001 - £25,000 (to note) 0 £0

Funding approved by delegated authority from £25,001 - £50,000 (to note) 2 £73,750

Applications recommended for rejection 13 n/a

Rejections approved by delegated authority (to note) 0 n/a

Withdrawn applications (to note) 9 n/a

Applications lapsed (to note) 4 n/a

Total Investing in Londoners applications 52 £3,017,887

Anniversary funding streams

Funding approved by delegated authority 9 £222,100

Rejections 4 n/a

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



 INDEX OF GRANT RECOMMENDATIONS 
  

  Requested Recommended 

 Ref No. Organisation Amount Amount 

 
 Investing in Londoners: partnership programme 

 a 14551 Buttle UK £297,500 £324,697 

 Total Investing in Londoners: partnership programme £297,500 £324,697 

 
 Strategic Initiatives 

 b 14509 Heart of the City £184,032 £475,000 

 

 c 14536 John Lyon's Charity £300,000 £300,000 

 

 d 14531 Trust for London (in non-public) £300,000 £300,000 

 Total Strategic Initiatives £484,032 £1,075,000 

 

Investing in Londoners 

  

English for Speakers of Other Languages 

 e 14357 Women for Refugee Women £90,000 £90,000 

 Total English for Speakers of Other Languages £90,000 £90,000 

 

 Improving Londoners' Mental Health 

 f 14321 BANG Edutainment Ltd £91,172 £120,000 

 Total Improving Londoners' Mental Health £91,172 £120,000 

 

 Making London More Inclusive 

 g 14330 Children's Trust £67,240 £60,000 

 

 h 14513 Down's Syndrome Association £198,006 £117,000 

 

 i 14284 Parochial Church Council of St £100,000 £22,500 

 Mary, Stoke Newington 
 

 j 14399 Rethink Mental Illness £132,909 £113,000 

 

 k 14483 Sense £153,939 £154,000 

 Total Making London More Inclusive £652,094 £466,500 

 

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 

 

  Requested Recommended 

 Ref No. Organisation Amount Amount 

 

 Older Londoners 

 l 14328 Community Empowerment and £124,806 £69,600 
 Support Initiatives (CESI) 

 

 m 14506 Royal Hospital Chelsea Appeal Ltd £120,700 £120,700 

 

 n 14504 Saint Francis Hospice £75,478 £75,500 

 Total Older Londoners £320,984 £265,800 
 
 
 Reducing Poverty 

 o 14219 Alternatives Trust East London £90,000 £90,000 

 

 p 14332 Community Links Trust Ltd £132,964 £158,500 

 

 q 14331 Deptford Reach £95,067 £31,000 

 

 r 14397 Hammersmith and Fulham Law £148,500 £183,600 

 Centre 
 

 s 14234 Help Somalia Foundation £71,758 £70,000 

 

 t 14333 TaxAid UK £57,659 £58,000 

 Total Reducing Poverty £595,948 £591,100 

 

 Grand Total for Investing in Londoners £2,531,730 £2,933,097 

 

 

Page 42



Page 43

Agenda Item 8a



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49

Agenda Item 8b



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61

Agenda Item 8c



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67

Agenda Item 8d



Page 68



Page 69

Agenda Item 8e



Page 70



Page 71

Agenda Item 8f



Page 72



Page 73

Agenda Item 8g



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77

Agenda Item 8h



Page 78



Page 79

Agenda Item 8i



Page 80



Page 81

Agenda Item 8j



Page 82



Page 83

Agenda Item 8k



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87

Agenda Item 8l



Page 88



Page 89

Agenda Item 8m



Page 90



Page 91

Agenda Item 8n



Page 92



Page 93

Agenda Item 8o



Page 94



Page 95

Agenda Item 8p



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99

Agenda Item 8q



Page 100



Page 101

Agenda Item 8r



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105

Agenda Item 8s



Page 106



Page 107

Agenda Item 8t



Page 108



 

 

Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust 
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
The Prince’s Trust Strategic Grant  
(Reference 14557) 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer and Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO) 
 

For Decision 
 
 

Report of:   Shegufta Rahman, Grants Officer 
 

 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report informs you of the progress to date at the three-year mark of this 10-year 
strategic grant to the Prince’s Trust (PT) – it provides information on the outcomes 
and impacts that have resulted for your consideration. It also outlines the planned 
activities for the next three-year period and the proposed allocation of resources in 
support of this activity. The content of this report will be supplemented by a verbal 
update at the City Bridge Trust (CBT) Committee meeting: a meeting of the grant’s 
strategy group (including your Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Director, and the CEO 
of Prince’s Trust UK) will have taken place after the papers deadline and before the 
up-coming committee.  
 
 

Recommendations 
 

Members are asked to: 
 

1. Note the report; 
2. Agree that satisfactory results have been achieved by PT in the first three 

years of this strategic initiative; 
3. Agree the outline of planned activities for the next three-year period, with the 

agreement of the detail to be delegated to the Town Clerk in consultation with 
the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Chief Grants Officer; and  

4. Approve the commitment of the next allocation of £3m funding from the £10m 
approved by the Court of Common Council, as outlined in Table 1. 

 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. In September 2014, this committee agreed to recommend a grant of £10m over 
a 10-year period to PT, with break clauses at years three, six and nine, subject 
to effective delivery. This was subsequently approved by the Policy & 
Resources Committee, and the Court of Common Council. The grant period 
commenced in April 2015.    

Page 109

Agenda Item 9a



 

 

2. This strategic grant was awarded to enable PT to impact some of the most 
socially deprived areas of London, and to ensure more work is done across 
London to assist young people from challenging backgrounds. 

 
Performance to date 

 
3. To date, the vast majority of young people supported are aged 13-25. They 

have been engaged through PT’s community-based outreach teams and core 
range of Education, Training & Development programmes; ‘Get Started’, ‘Team’, 
‘Fairbridge’ and ‘Achieve’. These programmes provide essential support to 
young people who are underachieving in education or at risk of underachieving; 
and young people who are unemployed and not yet ready for work. Additional 
housing support was also provided for those presenting as homeless. A 
summary of each programme and associated performance is provided in 
Appendix 1. 
 

4. Outcomes over the three years of delivery are overwhelmingly positive, with a 
steady growth in outputs year on year.  

 

 2015/16 – 1,685 young Londoners supported 

 2016/17 – 1,708 young Londoners supported 

 2017/18 – 1,726 young Londoners expected to be supported through to 
the end of March 2018 

 
Based on outcomes data captured by PT, for the 5,119 young Londoners 
supported in total over the three years, three in four will have moved into 
education, training or employment.   

 
5. For example, outcomes data that has been collected in relation to ‘Fairbridge’ 

London delivery shows: 
 

 Kennington Centre – 2017 to 2018 
70% of the young people supported came from a target background – in 
care/leaving care; offender/ex-offender; disabled; single parent; asylum 
seeker/refugee – and 67% from a target need as follows: 
 

- 49% presented mental health needs 
- 24% were homeless 
- 55% had a disability  

 
88% of the young people helped through the Kennington centre moved on 
to further education, training or employment. Since 2015, more than 444 
young people completed the ‘Fairbridge’ programme at this centre. 

 

 Poplar Centre – 2017 to 2018 
80% of the young people supported came from a target background – in 
care/leaving care; offender/ex-offender; disabled; single parent; asylum 
seeker/refugee – and 76% from a target need as follows: 
 

- 58% presented mental health needs 

Page 110



 

 

- 28% were homeless 
- 66% had a disability  

 
86% of the young people helped through the Poplar centre moved on to 
further education, training or employment. Since 2015, more than 421 
young people completed the ‘Fairbridge’ programme at this centre. 

 
6. One of many case studies follows Steve, who joined ‘Get Started with Football’ 

with Queen’s Park Rangers FC (QPR) after being referred by the Job Centre.  
Having recently moved to West London from Kent, Steve was living in a hostel 
and was keen to join sport-related activities in the local area; giving him 
something to look forward to every day.  He was always interested in football, 
but wanted to move away from playing and gain some experience in coaching.  
The programme was a great way for Steve to do this, as young people can gain 
an FA Level 1 Qualification, as well as getting the opportunity to work with staff 
at QPR. 
 
Steve has autism, so he can sometimes find it difficult working with new people, 
and communicating his point of view. Throughout the week it was clear that 
Steve was committed to working on improving these skills and using this to 
develop his coaching ability.  The FA Level 1 Qualification is a challenging 
course, which requires a lot of dedication and hard work to complete in the one-
week scope of the programme.  Staff from QPR and PT were amazed at how 
dedicated Steve was to gain his qualification; he came in early every morning 
and was the last to leave every day to ensure that his theory work was 
complete.  Alongside the coaching knowledge he accumulated, it was clear that 
Steve’s confidence and communication skills improved. By the end of the week 
Steve was able to deliver coaching sessions to his peers successfully, and to 
present his ideas in front of the group. Steve also thrived in the Celebration 
Event, taking the opportunity to network with QPR staff and former players. 
 
At the reunion day, in the week following the programme, Steve was interviewed 
by staff at Creative Sport and Leisure. Impressed with how he applied what he 
had learned on the programme, they offered him a place on their sports 
coaching traineeship. Steve has now started a traineeship with the organisation, 
where he will be able to gain a Level 2 Principles of Coaching qualification, as 
well as learn about Employability, Safeguarding and Emergency Aid.  Most 
importantly, he will gain valuable work experience coaching in schools. 

 
7. Partnerships have been critical to the success of your grant to PT. The ‘Get 

Started’ programme has been supported by a number of organisations, many of 
whom you already support through your Investing in Londoners programme. 
Media Trust have delivered ‘Get Started’; giving young people the opportunity to 
learn about radio, film, broadcast media and music. Vauxhall City Farm have 
also delivered ‘Get Started’, introducing young people to animal care. QPR in 
the Community Trust have had a long-standing partnership with PT, delivering 
‘Get Started with Football’ programmes. More recently, PT have a co-location 
partnership at Loftus Road Stadium in West London to reach more young 
people in an area where the charity has historically had lower engagement. 

 

Page 111



 

 

8. Another key partnership to this grant has been the housing support which has 
been delivered with Centrepoint. This is a joint venture in which the housing 
officer is shared between the two organisations, and supports young people 
who present as homeless and are unable to take part in the programmes as a 
result. These young people are supported into sustainable housing or 
accommodation through this service. 

 
9. In 2017, PT developed a partnership with L’Oreal to deliver confidence and self-

esteem sessions, and with MIND to deliver specialist mental health support. 
These services have been delivered in both the Poplar and Kennington centres 
as additional support on the ‘Fairbridge’ programme. 

 
10. Following the CBT-organised Youth Providers Event hosted at Mansion House 

in January this year, PT have met with London Youth to discuss the possibilities 
of piloting their ‘Achieve’ programme in an alternative education and youth 
setting offered through the London Youth network. 

 
11. An integral part of this grant, as conceived, was ensuring that the assets of 

CBT, PT and the City of London Corporation (CoLC) beyond the money are 
also utilised to achieve greater impact for disadvantaged young people in 
London. A dedicated post at PT has been funded to support this. Following an 
initial recruitment, this post enabled some successful connections. A 
challenging period followed when the successful post-holder was promoted, and 
a permanent replacement sought. The recruitment of the current post-holder 
was a joint effort between PT, CBT and Town Clerks, and the re-written and re-
evaluated job description now better reflects the requirements for managing this 
significant grant. This approach provides CBT with some helpful learning to 
support the total assets approach of Bridging Divides. 

 
Proposed Objectives 2018 – 2021 
 

12. The detail of the proposed objectives for the next three-year phase of this grant 
is still under discussion at the time of writing. A meeting of the strategy group is 
taking place prior to your CBT Committee meeting and at your committee, your 
officers will provide a further verbal update. The broad themes proposed for the 
next three years are detailed below. 

 

13. Strengthening and Extending the Education Support: currently, the ‘Achieve’ 
programme is on offer in 65 of 432 schools in London and 21 of the 65 Pupil 
Referral Units. The proposed activities for ‘Achieve’ in the next three years will 
increase the number of delivery partners across all boroughs in London, in order 
to provide key life skills to many more young Londoners. 
 

14. Developing Employment Opportunities: PT are keen to pilot an Emerging 
Leaders programme; supporting those who lack aspiration and the networks 
needed to reach their potential. Recognising London Youth’s City Leaders 
programme (one of your strategic initiatives), PT are seeking to develop 
leadership skills in young people to create a pipeline of talent, leading to a more 
skilled and productive UK workforce. There is scope to build on similar initiatives 
that have been delivered in London, and forge partnerships for this objective 
where appropriate. 

Page 112



 

 

15. Developing a London Police Forces Project: Recognising the opportunities 
available through this partnership with CBT, and the CoLC, PT are considering 
developing a complex, in-depth and involved relationship with London’s Police 
Forces. Supporting young offenders, especially those from disadvantaged 
communities, will enable PT to help improve community cohesion, by reaching 
the most marginalised young people. This will be done through: 

 

 Custody Suites – enabling effective referral routes for young people in 
custody settings to access PT programmes 

 Safer Schools – growing the number of Safer Schools Police Officers 
delivering PT’s ‘Achieve Clubs’, and using them to advocate the benefits of 
the ‘Achieve’ programme to decision-makers within schools 

 Trident – growing the partnership with Trident Officers and Gang 
Command Units to provide a structured programme referral pathway for 
those isolated and at risk of gang behaviour, as well as providing a 
diversionary route for those young people on the edges of gang influence  

 

16. The thematic areas outlined above are informed by the delivery, outputs and 
outcomes gathered over the last three years of this strategic partnership. Based 
on the long-term commitment of your grant, PT have been able to create their 
London Growth Plan; an ambitious strategic plan to reach 10,000 young 
Londoners between 2017 – 2022. This five-year strategy would see PT double 
their reach in London and will provide the foundation for this next period:  PT 
have confirmed the reach of this strategy would not have been possible without 
your significant investment in this partnership.  
 

17. It is proposed that the £3m funding for 2018 – 2021 will be allocated as detailed 
in Table 1. 

 

Table 1  
 

 

 
CBT Contribution

£295,780 £301,695 £307,729

£2,595,895 £2,647,811 £2,700,767

£57,000 £57,000 £57,000

£2,949,015 £3,007,192 £3,066,536

£1,000,000 £1,000,000 £1,000,000

Outreach - Reaching most vulnerable marginalised 

young people through specific Police Services project 

Education  - Strengthening and Extending our Support 

Employability - Developing Employment Opportunities 

Total Cost

The Prince's Trust and City Bridge Trust Strategic Partnership Draft London Budget 2018 - 2021

April 2018 - 

March 2019

April 2019 - 

March 2020

April 2020 - 

March 2021

Page 113



 

 

Financial Assessment 
 

18. The charity has a number of European income-funded contracts coming to an 
end. Given a challenging market for fundraising due to Brexit, and uncertainty 
around what will replace European funding, there is a slight drop in income year 
on year.  

 
19. The organisation’s unrestricted free reserves include the equity value of 

freehold land and buildings and the value of programme related investments net 
of a discount to estimate realisable value. PT classifies these land and buildings 
as realisable to cash as they are held in prime and prominent locations, are kept 
in good marketable conditions and could be used for multiple purposes. The 
charity’s reserves policy is to hold between four to six months’ operating 
expenditure, for which total expenditure is used in the calculation, and it is well 
within this target on this basis. 

 

 
 
 
Conclusion 
 

20. The first three-year period of this strategic grant has set a strong foundation for 
the remainder of the grant period. The long-term investment has enabled 
positive networks and relationships to be established across PT, CoLC and 
CBT, as well as across the public and private sectors and civil society. Across 
the three years, this grant has enabled CBT to embed a total-assets approach 
to the strategic partnership, which aligns with your new funding strategy 
Bridging Divides. Based on the strength of these relationships, PT is able to 
innovate and develop new models of delivery, such as the proposed thematic 

2017 2018 2019

Audited Accounts Forecast Budget

£ £ £

Income & expenditure:

Income 70,894,000 68,490,459 68,788,843

 - % of Income confirmed as at 02/03/2018 n/a 98% 44%

Expenditure (67,835,000) (71,350,638) (68,948,533)

Net investments surplus/(deficit) 1,292,000 431,000 0

Total surplus/(deficit) 4,351,000 (2,429,178) (159,690)

Split between:

 - Restricted surplus/(deficit) 3,612,000 0 (357,240)

 - Unrestricted surplus/(deficit) 739,000 (2,429,179) 197,549

4,351,000 (2,429,179) (159,691)

Cost of Raising Funds 11,929,000 9,376,992 9,618,335

 - % of income 16.8% 13.7% 14.0%

Operating expenditure 67,835,000 71,350,638 68,948,533

Free unrestricted reserves:

Free unrestricted reserves held at year end 33,500,000 31,070,821 30,911,130

No of months of operating expenditure 5.9 5.2 5.4

Reserves policy target 22,611,667 23,783,546 22,982,844

No of months of operating expenditure 4.0 4.0 4.0

Free reserves over/(under) target 10,888,333 7,287,275 7,928,286

Year end as at 31 March

Page 114



 

 

areas of focus for the next three years. Whilst these are based on learning from 
the grant to date, as well as emerging trends, the positive and effective working 
relationships that have been established will enable us to have a flexible 
approach to meeting the needs of disadvantaged young Londoners, falling 
within the spirit of Bridging Divides. 

 
 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Programme Summaries and Performance 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Shegufta Rahman 
Grants Officer, City Bridge Trust 
T: 020 7332 3021 
E: shegufta.rahman@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115

mailto:shegufta.rahman@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 1 – Programme Summaries and Performance 
 

1. ‘Get Started’ programmes are short courses which engage young people into 
further education, training or employment, through specific themes such as 
sport or the arts. Delivered with expert partners, the programme enables young 
people to develop their skills through practical activities, giving them confidence 
and motivation to move on with their lives. Over this three-year period, your 
funding has enabled PT to engage 1,441 young people onto their ‘Get Started’ 
programmes through their outreach work. Of this number, you have funded the 
costs for 236 individuals to complete a ‘Get Started’ programme.  

 
2. ‘Team’ is a 12-week personal development programme, which combines group 

and individual learning activities, enabling young people to leave equipped with 
a range of skills.  Young people on ‘Team’ improve their employability through 
work placements and skills workshops; work directly with members of 
community organisations to make a difference and build community cohesion; 
develop their teamwork and communication skills; and gain nationally 
recognised qualifications. Each year an Annual Quality Review takes place with 
each delivery partner and for the last academic year, the average qualification 
rate in London was 98% for ‘Team’. Your funding to date has supported 1,382 
young Londoners in total through this programme.    
 

3. ‘Fairbridge’ is an individually tailored personal development programme for 
young people aged 16 to 25 who are disengaged, far away from reaching their 
potential, have chaotic lifestyles, and who are unable to overcome the problems 
in their lives. Young people participate in a combination of group activities, 
opportunities, experiences, and one-to-one support directly delivered by PT staff 
in their Poplar and Kennington centres. Sessions support the development of 
life, personal and social skills such as communication, managing feelings, 
positive citizenship and taking personal care of themselves and others. Your 
funding has enabled PT to engage 974 young people onto ‘Fairbridge’ through 
their outreach work. Of this, your funding has supported 196 young Londoners 
to complete the ‘Fairbridge’ programme.  

 
4. ‘Achieve’ is PT’s education programme, supporting young people at risk of 

educational under-achievement. The structure of the programme encourages 
the young people to develop relationships with other pupils and the teachers. In 
an unpressured learning environment, young people build confidence and 
interpersonal skills. Your funding has been instrumental in the growth of this 
programme. In its first year, 291 young Londoners engaged in ‘Achieve’. At the 
end of February 2018, 990 young Londoners had taken part in the programme 
in this academic year alone. This represents a 240% increase in the number of 
young people supported over the three-year period. Your funding has supported 
396 young Londoners of the 990 engaged in ‘Achieve’ this year. Over the three-
year period you have supported 1,085 young Londoners through this 
programme. Your funding has also enabled PT to fully fund this programme and 
thereby remove the network fee to educational establishments. This has led to 
the significant uptake in ‘Achieve’. 

 

Page 116



 

 

5. An additional 237 young people received specialist housing support, in order to 
enable them to attend one or more of the above-mentioned programmes. This 
was delivered in partnership with Centrepoint. 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Applications recommended for rejection 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Decision 
 

Report author: Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer 
 

 

 
Summary 

 

This report and the accompanying schedule outlines a total of 17 grant 
applications or Eco-Audit requests that, for the reason(s) identified, are 
recommended for rejection.  

 
Recommendation 

 

 Members are asked to: 
 

 Reject the grant applications detailed in the accompanying schedule 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. There are a total of 17 applications recommended for rejection at this 
meeting. They are listed within categories in the accompanying 
schedule. In each case the “purpose” that is used to describe the 
application is that provided by the applicant organisation. All the 
recommendations are based on criteria set out in your Policy Guidance.  

 

2. Copies of these application forms are available to view in the Members’ 
Reading Room. If any Committee Member wishes to query any of the 
recommendations, this can either be done at the meeting, in which case 
the decision may be deferred while full details are provided to the 
Member concerned, or by contacting the Trust office in advance of the 
meeting so that an explanation can be provided prior to or at the 
meeting.  
 

 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 9b

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 CBT Recommended for Rejection 
 The City Bridge Trust Committee – 14th March 2018 

 Summary of Recommendations for Rejection 

 Anniversary Infrastructure Support Programme and Investing in Londoners 

 

 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date         Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 
 Anniversary Programme 

 November 14364 Towards the core salaries of the The applicant did not demonstrate sufficient £22,000 JF 
 2017 Children England      central team. engagement with The Way Ahead. Westminster 

 

 November 14356 To maintain capacity to deliver core The applicant did not demonstrate sufficient £25,000 JF 
 2017 LASA                  services. engagement with The Way Ahead. Westminster 

 

 November 14366 Towards the delivery of REF’s core The applicant did not demonstrate sufficient £25,792 JF 
 2017 Race Equality          services.  engagement with The Way Ahead. Camden 
 Foundation 

 

 November 14372 Towards the delivery of Transport for The applicant did not demonstrate sufficient £24,716 JF 
 2017 Transport for All       All’s core services.  engagement with The Way Ahead. Lambeth 

 

 Total Anniversary Programme (4 items) £97,508 

 

P
age 120



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date         Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 
Improving Londoners' Mental Health 

 December 14508 To provide therapeutic groups for The application does not sufficiently meet £51,395 GP 
 2017 Caspari Foundation school pupils to improve confidence, the Trust's objectives: it is more focused on Islington 
 peer relationships and interest in educational outcomes than specialist mental 
 school, and to train school staff to health ones. In addition funding is requested 
 deliver this programme. for training school staff, which you do not 
 support. 
 
 
 February 14502 To employ an Office Administrator, to There is insufficient information within the £98,085 SFJ 
 2018 You & Me             manage the office processes, and funds application to confirm the necessary detail of Havering 
               Counselling            to cover the rent of the current the organisation's income. The funding 
 premises. requested is, fundamentally, for core costs 
 yet not all of the work meets your criteria. 

 Total Improving Londoners' Mental Health (2 items) £149,480 

 Making London More Inclusive 

 October 201714312 To deliver inclusive theatre workshops The charity has sufficient free reserves to £70,000 TW 
 Hackney Shed Ltd in East London as a tool to integrate cover the cost of activities requested from Hackney 
 both young people with disabilities and the Trust. 
 access needs with their mainstream 
 peers. 

 December 14500 Delivery of crucial provision to ensure Most recent accounts presented show free £119,959 CR 
 2017 Tottenham Hotspur disabled young people get the right reserves of £2.3M held against typical Haringey 
 Foundation support to achieve what it is they expenditure of £3M, of which less than., 
 choose to do in adult life. £150,000 is unrestricted. The organisation  
  therefore, has sufficient capacity to support 
 this proposal from its own resources. 

 Total Making London More Inclusive (2 items) £189,959 

 

P
age 121



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date         Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 Older Londoners 

 February 14545 Improving facilities at Blackheath Halls, This application is principally for a capital £250,000 CR 
 2018 Blackheath Halls in order to deepen and improve our contribution to general redevelopment works Greenwich 
 relationship with older participants/ and insufficiently addresses your priorities. 
 audiences, and reach new members of The Halls received a capital grant for 
 the local community. disabled access works in 2012. 

 
 
 February 14542 Concerts in heritage sites, free to all The application does not demonstrate how it £7,700 JXJ 
 2018 Connaught Opera older Londoners, commemorating the will target the most disadvantaged older Westminster 
 Great War. Londoners. The charity also has no free 
 reserves and does not have sufficient 
 secured income for the period of this grant. 

 

 September 14280 We are requesting funding towards the The attention and focus of the proposal £149,523 KAM 
 2017 The Silver Line costs of running our helpline and does not strongly address your programme Wandsworth 
 Helpline befriending services for older londoners outcomes. The organisation has a level of 
 free reserves and predicated annual deficit 
 that presents a higher level of risk than is 
 acceptable by the Trust. 

 

 February 14535 To enable frial, older Veterans and The project proposes to deliver activities £87,947 KAM 
 2018 The Sir Oswald Stoll dependants living at Stoll, to feel safe which are not of direct benefit to the wider Hammersmith & 
 Foundation and secure in their ability to live community, which is your policy when Fulham 
 independently in their own homes. funding residential services/providers. 
 Neither the project nor the job description 
 confirm that the sole beneficiaries would be 
 those aged 75+. 

 

 

P
age 122



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date         Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 

 

 December 14468 To support Story Box Circus London, a An interesting proposal for circus activities in £83,400 TW 
 2017 Upswing Aerial three-year programme of circus-based care homes. The majority of work is Tower Hamlets 
 Limited workshops and performance touring to performance related, with too little 
 London care homes for the benefit of participation from older residents to 
 older Londoners. evidence a clear fit with your target outcome 
 of a more active and healthy life. 

 Total Older Londoners (5 items) £578,570 

 
 Reducing Poverty 

 November 14398 Provide an accessible responsive The application lacks detail; the reason for £321,849 GP 
 2017 170 Community welfare advice service to our vulnerable and potential benefits of the proposed Lewisham 
 Centre - Deptford clients. partnership are unclear. The salaried posts 
 Community Radio towards which funding is requested exceed 
 Project 35 hpw (1 FTE equivalent, the maximum 
 number of salaried hours that can be funded 
 through a grant from the Trust). 

 January       14511 To support the delivery of our fuelbanks The only activity subject to this application £120,000 TW 
2018 Fuelbanks and        service in Wandsworth, providing that falls within your priorities for the Wandsworth 
                Families              immediate help and longer term support "Reducing Poverty" programme is money, 
 to resolve families fuel crisis. debt and housing advice. However, this 
 would be delivered by a partner organisation 
 (Centre 70) which is already in receipt of a 
 grant from City Bridge Trust. 

 February 14544 We are seeking funding for a new The proposal does not target sufficiently £5,000 CR 
 2018 Lighthouse Furniture collection and delivery van for our depot your priorities within the Reducing Poverty Redbridge 
 Project Ltd in Ilford, recently opened in partnership Programme. Some of the beneficiaries are 
 with Teen Challenge London (TCL) likely to be non-Londoners. 

 Total Reducing Poverty (3 items) £446,849 

P
age 123



 Grants 

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer 

Date         Organisation  Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area 
 
 
Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders 

 July 2017 14220 To fund the Divert Programme across An incomplete application for a huge sum £600,000 CR 
 Milestone Foundation the boroughs of Croydon, Haringey, (£600,000 over two years) where the most City 
 Ealing and Newham for a period of 2 recent accounts show income of £61,000. 
 years Equally, draft accounts to June 2017 show 
 income of c. £360,000 which suggests a 
 rate of growth which can present 
 operational and/or managerial challenges. 

 Total Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders (1 item) £600,000 

 

 Grand Totals (17 items) £2,062,366 

P
age 124



 

Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Funds approved under delegated authority  
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Information 
 

Report author:  Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer  

 
Summary 

 
This report advises members of funds approved under delegated authority since 
your last meeting. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

 

Main Report 

 
Following the approval of the Court of Common Council on 16th October 2014, the 
Chief Grants Officer may make decisions on applications of up to £10,000. Decisions 
on applications of over £10,000 and up to £25,000 may be approved by the Chief 
Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.  
 
Decisions on applications of over £25,000 and up to £50,000 may be approved by 
the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, 
with reference to the Chamberlain. 
 
The total amount of expenditure and number of items approved under delegated 
authority this financial year (inclusive of those below) are shown in Table 1. 

 
Requests <£10K  
  
SurvivorsUK 
(Approved 26/1/2018) 
 

£2,000 (ten sessions at £200 per session) over 1 
year for mentoring support for Andy Connolly, 
Acting CEO of Survivors UK, to be paid on receipt 
of invoices. 
 

Mevlana Rumi Mosque 
(Approved 22/2/2018) 
 

£2,200 (5.5 days @£400) to provide an eco-audit. 
 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9c



  
  
Association of Charitable 
Foundations (ACF) 
(Approved 28/2/2018) 

£3,000 over one year towards the costs of a part-
time administrator for the Social Impact Investors’ 
Group, on the condition that the balance of funds 
is raised from other members of the SIIG. 
 

The Hive Food Bank 
(Approved 1/2/2018) 

£3,840 over two years (£1,920 x 2) to build up 
food supplies for weekly distribution to individuals 
and families in crisis. 
   

  
  
Requests £10K - £25K 
 

 

Anniversary Infrastructure Support Programme grants 
 
Partnership for Young London 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£23,100 towards PYL's core costs to enable its 
continued active involvement with The Way 
Ahead. 
 

Women's Resource Centre 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£24,000 towards salary costs to enable WRC to 
remain actively engaged with The Way Ahead. 
 

Race On The Agenda 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards the CEO's salary to enable 
ROTA to remain actively engaged with The 
Ahead. 
 

Law Centres Federation 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards LCN's core costs to enable its 
continued active involvement with The Way 
Ahead. 

AdviceUK 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards salary costs to enable Advice 
UK's continued active involvement with The Way 
Ahead. 
 

Age UK London 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards the salary costs of four part-time 
posts to enable AUKL to remain actively engaged 
with The Way Ahead. 
 

British Refugee Council 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards the salary of a Community Co-
ordinator to support Refugee Council's 
engagement with The Way Ahead. 
 

HEAR Equality and Human 
Rights Network 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards the salary of a Network Co-
ordinator to enable HEAR's continued active 
involvement with The Way Ahead. 
 

Inclusion London 
(Approved 12/1/2018) 

£25,000 towards the CEO and Policy Officer 
salaries to enable Inclusion London to provide 
DDPO networking and information sharing 

Page 126



opportunities. 
 

Requests £25K - £50K  
  
Kingston Voluntary Action 
(Approved 6/1/2018) 

£25,950 towards the salary and associated 
running costs of a part-time (0.6 FTE) High Net 
Worth Fundraiser who, as well as raising funds for 
Love Kingston, will add valuable learning to the 
wider London’s Giving movement. 
 

London Sustainability 
Exchange 
(Approved 1/3/2018) 

£47,800 over two years(£23,900; £23,900) 
towards several staff salaries (in total 0.49 FTE) 
and related running costs for the Pollinators Path 
project in three London Boroughs.  
 

 
 

Table 1 – Funds approved under delegated authority in financial year to date. 
 

 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
T: 020 7332 3186 
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk] 

Applications 
reported to 
Committee 

< £10k  
  

£10k - £25k 
  

£25k - £50k 

  £ No. £ No. £ No. 

May 2017  £5,600 2 £0 0 £30,550 1 

June 2017 £1,610 2 £17,400 1 £0 0 

July 2017 £5,540 3 £0 0 £0 0 

September 2017 £127,717 23 £0 0 £129,912 3 

November 2017 £16,900 6 96,100 5 782,060 19 

January 2018 £126,275 16 £24,700 1 £0 0 

March 2018 £11,040 4 £222,100 9 £73,750 2 

Total for year 
to date £294,682 56 £360,300 16 

 
£1,016,272 

 
25 

Page 127

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Withdrawn & Lapsed applications  
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Information 
 

Report author:  Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer 
 

 

 
Summary 

 
This report informs Members of applications received which subsequently have been 
withdrawn by the applicant, or lapsed due to the absence of the information required 
to undertake a full assessment. 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 

 

Main Report 
 
 

 
 
Organisation Purpose of Request 

 
Withdrawn Applications: 
 

 

Advocacy for All 
 

To provide independent one-to-one non-statutory 
community advocacy, for adults with Learning 
Disabilities (LD) in Bromley and Bexley. 
 

- The proposal has been withdrawn when the 
charity realised it was made when within the fallow 
period.  
 

Copleston Centre 
 

Develop and expand our programme of 
community based projects with a strong focus on 
social inclusion for older people, including those 
with mental health concerns.  
 

- The applicant decided to withdraw the 
application in order to submit a more detailed and 
specific one. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9d



Divine Rescue Mission (Youth 
Prospects Project) 
 

To recruit permanent staff to enable us to run 
more efficiently and continue providing our 
services across London. 
 

- The applicant decided to withdraw their 
application in order to submit a more suitable one 
at a later date.  
 

JW3 
 

To fund an enrichment programme for JW3 
visitors aged 75 and above to improve physical 
and mental stimulation, healthier lifestyles, 
socialisation opportunities and increase wellbeing.  
 

- The applicant decided to withdraw the 
application in order to focus more on the criteria. 
  

 

Khulisa 
 

To deliver Silence the Violence, our programme 
supporting vulnerable offenders to improve their 
mental health, develop emotional resilience and 
coping skills, leading to reduced reoffending. 
 

- Following discussion with your officer, Khulisa 
has decided to withdraw its current application 
with a view to re-submitting a new proposal in the 
future.  
 

Magpie Dance To support a dance programme for adults with 
learning disabilities enabling them to improve 
communication skills, build confidence, self-
esteem and improve physical and mental 
wellbeing. 
 

- The applicant decided to withdraw their 
application with a view to submitting a more 
suitable one at a later date. 
 

Mencap Lambeth 
 

Employ an Empowerment and Community 
Development Coordinator for people with learning 
disabilities to empower them and give them a 
voice and choice in their lives. 
 

- The applicant opted to withdraw the application 
in order to submit a more suitable one at a later 
date. 
 

The Change Foundation 
 

Learn 2 Earn will support and mentor young 
Londoners with learning disabilities at key 
transition points to develop skills and behaviours 
needed to secure employment. 
 

- The organisation has applied when within the 

Page 130



fallow period so has subsequently withdrawn this 
request. 
 

Wac Arts 
 

A 3-year project to enable disabled young leaders 
aged 14 - 26 achieve greater independence, 
through supporting the development of 
transferable social skills. 
 

- Withdrawn by organisation as sufficient time has 
not yet elapsed since the completion of their last 
CBT grant.  
 

 

Lapsed Applications: 
 

 

Greenwich Carers Centre 
 

To undertake and access audit to enable works 
planning that ensure our premises and services 
are fully accessible for the communities that we 
serve 
 

 - Unable to provide the required information. 
 

Marie Curie 
 

To fund companionship and practical support for 
those with terminal illness, and their families. 
 

- The applicant did not provide sufficient 
information to assess the application, despite two 
reminders. 
  

The CASSEL Centre 
 

Proposal for a schools-based mental health 
support programme for young people in SE 
London. 
 

- The applicant did not send the information 
required to complete the application, despite two 
reminders.  
 

WHEAT Mentor Support Trust 
 

This funding will enable us to provide advice and 
advocacy service to refugees, migrants and other 
vulnerable groups to enable them access mental 
health services 
 

- The applicant did not provide the information 
required to assess the application, despite several 
reminders. 
 

 
 
 
Withdrawn Applications:  9 
Lapsed Applications:  4 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Variations to grants awarded 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Information 
 

Report author: Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer 
 

 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report informs Members of those grants where a variation has been agreed by 
the Chief Grants Officer since your last meeting. 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 
 
 

Main Report 
 
Since your last meeting, variation to the grants outlined below have been agreed by 
the Chief Grants Officer, in line with the revised delegated procedure for the 
amendment of grants as agreed by your Committee in October 2004. 
 
 
 
 
 

Association of charitable Foundations 
In September 2015 £204,000 was awarded to the above to host the City 
Philanthropy – A Wealth of Opportunity initiative. On its completion an unused sum 
of £29,846 was written back. 
 
Age Concern Brent 
You agreed a grant of £102,400 to Age Concern Brent in May 2016 for a home-
visiting service for isolated older people. Several months after the grant was agreed 
the organisation underwent a major reorganisation, the outcome of which meant that 
a number of deadlines which were set in order to receive information to release the 
funds were exceeded. The grant has now been revoked and the charity made aware 
of this. 
 
Respond 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9e



£144,500 was awarded to this charity in September 2014 for work on the mental 
health of people with learning disabilities involved in the criminal justice system and 
to evaluate their model of operation. In the end much of the anticipated work on the 
evaluation could not be done by the organisation selected for that purpose so it was, 
instead, done in-house. The resulting underspend amounted to £9,665 and has been 
written back. 
 
CBT Learning & Knowledge 
In September 2013 the sum of £175,000 was agreed for the Trust to deliver a 
programme of activities to deliver its strategy on sharing learning and knowledge (eg 
for publications, events, seminars). A recent tidy-up of the database shows actual 
spend against these funds of £113,480 so the balance of £61,520 has been written 
back. 
 
Various  
A “clean-up” of a number of grants with balances outstanding over considerable time 
periods was instigated in late March 2017. Whilst the database was amended 
accordingly at the time the list had not been reported to your Committee. The total 
amount of funds written back or revoked was £88,965 – for the following: 
 

City Mission Community Project  £20,643 
Inst. Of Public Policy Research  £1,999 
Couper Collection Public Trust  £9,323 
Peckham Shed Inclusive Theatre  £15,300 
Ageing Well Fun Club   £10,000 
Disability in Camden   £6,800 
SW London Stroke Club   £450 
Young Actors Theatre   £24,450 
 
      £88,965 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ciaran Rafferty 
Principal Grants Officer 
020 7332 3186 
ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 134



Committee 
 

Dated:  
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

14th March 2018 

Subject: 
Report on Learning visits 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City Bridge 
Trust 
 

For Information 
 

Report author: Jemma Grieve Combes, Grants Officer 
 

 

 
Summary 

 
This report introduces reports from monitoring visits to GlobalGiving UK and 
the Eastside Community Heritage. 

 
Recommendation 

 
 Members are asked to: 
 

 Receive this report and note its contents 
 
 

Main Report 
 

1. You receive Learning visit reports at each of your meetings. These 
are in addition to more substantial bi-annual monitoring reports 
examining patterns of funding and benefit of grants awarded.  

 
2. The reports to this Committee are from visits to GlobalGiving UK and 

Eastside Community Heritage, supported under your programmes for 
“Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector” and “Older Londoners”. 
GlobalGiving UK project develops a digital platform to match 
professional volunteers with charities whilst Eastside Community 
Heritage holds reminiscence sessions with older people to record the 
stories of local people in Barking and Dagenham, Redbridge and 
Havering.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Jemma Grieve Combes 
Grants Officer (Monitoring and Evaluation) 
 

T: 020 7332 3174 
E: jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9f

mailto:jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136



1 

 

LEARNING VISIT REPORT 

Eastside Community Heritage 12675 

1.1 Date of visit: 16.06.17 1.2 Name of visiting 

Grants Officer: Sandra 

Davidson 

1.3 People met with: 

Judith Garfield, Executive 

Director 

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: Older Londoners 

Older Londoners aged 75 years and over living more active and healthier lives 

Fewer older Londoners aged over 75 years with depression and more reporting 

improved well-being 

1.5 Purpose of the award: 

£48,000 over two years towards the salary of a Project Officer and on-costs to build 

on the successful ‘Tea, Dance, Music & Reminiscence’ project recording the stories 

of local people in Barking and Dagenham, Redbridge and Havering. 

MONITORING INFORMATION 

2.1 Project Outcome 1: 810 older people in Barking & Dagenham, Havering and 

Redbridge engaged in social and cultural activities; reduction of isolation and 

loneliness and improved mental and physical health and well-being. 

Progress made: 

The recruitment of a part time Project Officer to develop and run activities for older 

people in Barking and Dagenham, Redbridge and Havering is proving a great 

success.  The reminiscence sessions including tea dances, dance therapy and 

music sessions held in sheltered accommodation and community centres has 

attracted high numbers of older people particularly those with dementia.   The project 

exceeded its target with a total of 835 people engaged in the project. A case study 

given highlighted the success of a session run in one of the independent care homes 

with over 25 people with dementia and a variety of other impairments that were able 

to engage as a group and share memories with the confidence of the project worker 

and care staff.  User feedback has been very encouraging and positive about the 

benefits of attending the sessions particularly for those with health-related issues 

2.2 Project Outcome 2: Care/support workers in Barking & Dagenham and 

Redbridge trained in reminiscence activities and delivery. 

Progress made: 

Delivering training to care/support staff proved difficult due to time commitments and 

care needs. A system was developed where carers sat in and observed, or engaged 

with the sessions to learn how reminiscence can work in practice.  This helped 

increase confidence and interaction whilst delivering dance and music sessions. 

Training resources have been developed and handed out to staff and carers. 

2.3 Project Outcome 3: Participating older people, including those suffering from 

dementia related conditions, feel less isolated and lonely. 

Progress made: 

The organisation has developed an excellent reputation for its work with older 

people.  Outreach to community and residential care settings have attracted a wide 

audience to the project and it seeks ongoing feedback from its service users.  The 

Page 137



2 

 

engagement of older people at each of the reminiscence events has seen an 

improvement in confidence and physical and mental health.  The project worker is 

seen as very passionate and able to encourage older people to work together by 

developing their trust.  Creating new networks of friendship and support is 

instrumental in reducing isolation and is welcomed by participants. 

2.4 Project Outcome 4: 15-20 older people feel that their experiences are valued, 

and contribute to London's history through the recording and preservation of their 

stories through oral history. 

Progress made: 

30 people have taken part in the oral history sessions using materials from the 

organisation’s extensive archive and freely available musical resources as stimuli in 

these sessions to create discussion amongst participants.  Using oral history, 

photographs, music and food enabled participants to immerse themselves in the 

sessions.   

2.5 Project Outcome 5: Production and dissemination of online learning resource, 

available for free download from ECH website. 

Progress made: 

Resources are available for free download on the ECH website, as well as by 

request email, including images and instructions.  Resources are currently being 

updated and will be available soon. 

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS 

Eastside Community Heritage has successfully delivered 24 sessions per year and 6 

tea dances engaging 835 older people working with 23 organisations across the 

three boroughs. 78.5% were female and 21.5% were male. 46% were living with 

dementia.  The majority were white UK British.  Partnership work with key 

organisations proved crucial to the success of the project.  The value of 

reminiscence activities for older people has been evidenced by research carried out 

by Age UK (and others) describing the benefits of interacting with other people and 

enjoying gentle exercise to improve mobility.  

 

Your officer was not able to see a session in action but able to watch a short film of 

participants in a care home setting.  The post holder could clearly be seen to have 

developed a good relationship with participants.  The group sang songs and were all 

smiling in a brightly coloured room.  The organisation has learnt to engage older 

people building on its intergenerational work and close links with key organisations.  

More work needs to be done to engage care staff and support workers with limited 

time to enable them to support and deliver reminiscence activities. 

 

Page 138



1 

 

LEARNING VISIT REPORT 

GlobalGiving UK 12179 

1.1 Date of visit: 
 

19/012/2017 

1.2 Name of visiting 
Grants Officer:  
Jack Joslin, Grants Officer  

1.3 People met with: 
Eleanor Harrison, UK CEO 

Celeste Hesketh, UK 

Volunteer Manager 

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector 

More organisations with the skills to improve their volunteer management 

1.5 Purpose of the award: £79,450 over three years towards a part-time Volunteer 

Coordinator Manager plus running costs to expand the GlobalGivingTime platform 

for London-focused charities. 

MONITORING INFORMATION 

2.1 Project Outcome 1: 100 London based smaller charities will be able to access 

volunteers with relevant skills to help them address identified challenges/micro-tasks 

in their organisations.  

Progress made: 

Your Officer went to visit the Charity just at the end of the final year of the grant.  The 

Charity provided a good overview of the project over the last three years and 

explained how it had worked.  GlobalGivingTIME 

(https://www.globalgiving.org/globalgivingtime/) is a digital platform that enables 

charities to access professional volunteers without the need to provide in-person 

inductions and training.  In 2017 GlobalGiving UK worked with 99 London based 

charities via GlobalGivingTIME.  They anticipate having worked with over 300 

Charities by the end of your grant. 

2.2 Project Outcome 2: 1200+ skilled professionals across companies in London 

will get involved in skills-based volunteering and help charities in London. at least 

20% of volunteers will improve their awareness of social issues, 20%+ will report 

improved skills development and 20%+ report increased sense of wellbeing. 

Progress made: 

In 2017 GlobalGiving UK had 285 volunteers provide pro-bono support online to 

London focused organisations.  The Charity also brokered relationships between 

employees from large companies and the charities on their platform providing a 

range of support to organisations.  Feedback from companies and their employees 

have been very positive and opened their eyes up to ways they can support local 

organisations more productively in the future.  Engagement data showed that the 

online platform alone was not enough to tempt companies to invest their CSR or HR 

budgets in the GlobalGivingTIME project.  In response the organisation launched 

GlobalGivingTIME company volunteering events, linking the online and offline 

worlds. 

2.3 Project Outcome 3: At least 8 London based companies will benefit from 

improved Corporate Social Responsibility programmes, with improved strategic 

focus and effectiveness, resulting in a more dynamic company volunteering sector in 

London, better utilising digital solutions to maximise volunteer hours used annually. 

Page 139



2 

 

Progress made: 

The organisation has met this outcome overall and worked with 4 companies in 

2017.  They reported that this work is ongoing and from initial conversations that 

took place in 2017 they have now secured skilled volunteering partnerships with 

Bank of America, LSE and Shell.  Throughout the year they have run CSR breakfast 

panel meetings, workshops and engagement sessions with staff.  This has helped 

generate the corporate buy-in to pursue the programme further.   

2.4 Project Outcome 4: 300+ smaller charities will benefit from net cash savings of 

at least £40,000 over the three-year period by using the platform for identified 

challenges. 

Progress made: 

Charities that engaged on GlobalGivingTIME were also encouraged to use the 

accelerator products available through Global Giving. The accelerator products on 

offer help charities with fundraising, marketing, increasing their reach and attracting 

interest from Corporates The staff outlined how Charities that engaged on both 

programmes demonstrated the most positive outcomes both financially and 

structurally. The charity is confident that they will reach this target by the time your 

grant ends. 

2.5 Project Outcome 5: 100+ Londoners will be given the opportunity to undertake 

skilled roles in the GlobalGiving UK office in relevant areas. We will provide relevant 

training and support to ensure they are able to improve their employability skills by at 

least 30% during their placement with us. 

Progress made: 

At the time of your Officer’s visit there were a number of volunteers working in the 

Global Giving Office.  They were working across a variety of programmes and 

outlined the benefit that volunteering was having on their future job prospects.  In 

2017 17 Londoners undertook skilled volunteering with Global Giving in their office 

and a further 7 through the UK evaluation programme. 

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS 

At the meeting your officer discussed with the Charity how the Crowdfunding market 

had changed.  Global Giving was the first Crowdfunding Platform to exist and has a 

reach across the globe with an office in London and America, with other regional 

staff based around the world.  In the last 9 years the Crowdfunding space has 

become more congested which has been positive and negative for the Charity. The 

competition has forced them to work differently and set up other programmes like the 

GlobalGivingTIME that has been supported by your funding.  The competition has 

also required them to continually invest in the technology that sits behind the 

platform to ensure that they are ahead of their competitors and always exploring new 

markets.  As they have been established for a while they also have longstanding 

relationships with companies and corporates who use their platform for CSR 

purposes.  The Charity plan to keep developing their London offer past the grant and 

fed back that it has been a really good opportunity to look at things in a more placed 

based way, which has focused their ambitions within the UK in 2018. 

Page 140



3 

 

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust Committee 
 

14 March 2018 

Subject: 
City Bridge Trust Communications & Events attended 
 

Public 

Report of: 
The Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of City 
Bridge Trust 
 

For Information 

Report author: 
Martin Hall, Communications Manager 
 

 
Summary 

 
This paper provides members with an update on the communications work of the 
City Bridge Trust (CBT). 
 

Recommendation 
 
Members are asked to: 

 Receive the report and note its contents. 
 
 

Main Report 
 

Key Audience Group Reporting 
 

1. Appendix 1 reports communications activity between 17/01/18 and 28/02/18 
against each of the four key audiences identified in your Communications 
Strategy. 

 
2. This shows continued good levels of engagement against all four audiences.  

Regulators & Politicians were well engaged through the London Borough of 
Culture announcement. The Trust’s support was acknowledged extensively 
both during the event itself, at which your Chairman and Deputy Chairman 
were present, and also in press coverage and online social media activity 
from the winning Boroughs. There will be further opportunities to engage with 
elected Councillors in these areas over the coming months and years as the 
activity you are funding takes place. 
 

 
Media Activity  
 

3. Appendix 2 provides a detailed breakdown of the media activity supporting 
delivery of your Communications Strategy during this period, led by Kristina 
Drake, City of London Media Officer.  Several of the grants agreed at your 
January Committee meeting received coverage, most notably your grant of 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9g



£100,000 to the Helen Bamber Foundation which was referenced in an 
Evening Standard article on modern slavery and was also the subject of a 
London Live interview with David Farnsworth. 

 
4. In addition, coverage was received for your Strategic Initiative to Age UK for 

work with Action Fraud (an initiative of the City of London Police) to educate 
older people about the risks of fraud and support those already effected. As 
part of this project a short education video has been produced which can be 
viewed here.  

 
 
External Events Register 
 

5. A wide range of events were attended on behalf of the Trust during this 
period.  This included a roundtable and reception hosted by Cranfield Trust to 
discuss the Funder Plus support needs of charities and promote their Strive 
pro-bono support programme which is funded by you as a Strategic Initiative. 
The event was attended by HRH The Princess Royal, who is a patron of 
Cranfield Trust, along with a number of your current grantholders. Chairman 
Alison Gowman gave a short speech. 
 

6. A full list of external events attended by officers and Members on behalf of the 
Trust can be found at Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
Martin Hall 
Communications Manager 
T: 020 7332 3705 
E: Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 144

https://youtu.be/0IyOymAhEJs
mailto:Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Key Audience Groups 

 

Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels 

Online content 

Londoners All recent events were attended by Londoners. A full list 
can be found in the External Events table report (Appendix 
3). 

 Barking & Dagenham Post 

 Barnet Times 

 BBC London & Online 

 Charity Today 

 City Matters 

 Enfield Independent 

 Evening Standard 

 London Bulletin 

 London Live 

 Pos’Ability Magazine 

 The Carer UK 

 The Guardian 

 The Londonist 

 The Mercury (Greenwich) 

 This is Local London 

 Times of Israel 

 Totttenham and 
Woodgreen Independent  

 Yahoo 
 

CBT Twitter: 

 5,393 followers 
(up by 154 
since last 
meeting) 

 99.2K 
impressions* 
between 
16/01/18 & 
28/02/18 
 

CBT Website: 

 4,821 users  

 7,259 sessions 

P
age 145



Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels 

Online content 

Regulators & 
politicians 

 Citizenship Integration Initiative meeting 

 City of London - Social investment impact launch 

 Greater London Authority – LB of Culture ceremony 

 London Assembly - Grenfell hearing 

 London Councils meeting 

 Speaker’s Parliamentary Placement Scheme 

 The Lord Mayor’s Appeal Charity event 

 BBC London & Online 

 Charity Today 

 City Matters 

 Evening Standard 

 Fundraising UK 

 Recruitment Buzz 

 The Guardian 

Acknowledgement 
of the Trust’s 
support from GLA & 
winning boroughs 
on Twitter under the 
hashtag 
#MyLocalCulture 
 

Immediate 
stakeholders** 

 Barbican Centre Dinner 

 Bishops Dinner 

 Bloomberg meeting 

 Chinese National Healthy Living Centre event 

 Cranfield Trust roundtable 

 Ethical Property Company launch 

 Greenwich Foundation event 

 Living Streets event 

 London Hub meeting 

 London’s Giving meeting 

 Management Consultants Livery dinner 

 Mind in Camden visit 

 Place2Be presentation 

 Renaisi / Money Advice Service workshop 

 The Legal Education Foundation dinner 

 Mansion House reception 

 The Lord Mayor’s Appeal Charity event 

 The Merchant Taylors’ Company meeting 

 Charity Today 

 City Matters 

 Fundraising UK 

 London Live 

 PI Magazine 

 Recruitment Buzz 

 The Carer UK 

 The Mercury (Greenwich) 

 Wired Gov 

 News items on 
the CoL intranet 
and e-bulletin.  

 Regular updates 
in the Members’ 
Briefing. 

P
age 146

https://twitter.com/hashtag/mylocalculture?src=hash


Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels 

Online content 

Other funders, 
policy makers 
& key 
commentators 

 Charity Tax Group meeting 

 Citizenship Integration Initiative meeting 

 Cranfield Trust roundtable 

 Cripplegate Foundation funding panel 

 Greater London Authority ceremony 

 Lankelly Chase and BSC roundtable 

 LB of Hounslow Funders Fair 

 London Funders/Trust for London meeting 

 London Hub meeting 

 London’s Giving meeting 

 Marshall Institute lunch 

 BBC London & Online 

 Charity Today 

 Civil Society 

 Evening Standard 

 Fundraising UK 

 Pos’Ability Magazine 

 Recruitment Buzz 

 The Carer UK 

 The Guardian 

 Third Sector 

 Wired Gov 

 World Leisure News and 
Jobs 

Twitter activity 
around the 
Cranfield Trust 
roundtable & 
reception with the 
Princess Royal 
using the hashtag 
#striveCBT 

 

* An Impression is the number of times CBT tweets have been delivered to other accounts and potentially viewed. 

 

** Includes CBT & CoL Officers & Members; key infrastructure bodies; grantees; potential grantees; City leaders, workers, 

Human Resource and Corporate Social Responsibility professionals. 

 

  

P
age 147

https://twitter.com/hashtag/StriveCBT?src=hash


Appendix 2: Media Coverage 

16th January 2018 – 28th February 2018 

Date Organisation Publication & 
Weblink 

Readership 
/ Audience 

Detail Coverage 

17/01/18 Bikur Cholim London Bulletin 15,000 A report on the Trusts award to Hackney 
based Jewish charity Bikur Cholim, to 
boost its programme supporting elderly 
carers in Hackney and Haringey.  

London 

18/01/18 DViP City Matters 
(internal only) 

30,000 Further coverage of a grant made to 
Hammersmith-based charity DVIP which 
tackles child-on-parent violence across 
London. 

London 

18/01/18 Grenfell grants City Matters 
(internal only) 

30,000 The Trust is referenced on its support for 
victims of the Grenfell Tower fire and its 
recent awards for activity programmes for 
young people affected. 

London 

23/01/18 Bikur Cholim Times of Israel n/a As above. London 

24/01/18 Bridge House Estates 
exhibition 

London Live 
(internal only) 

250,000 
(average) 

London Live reports on a new exhibition 
at Tower Bridge which focuses on the 
charitable work carried out by Bridge 
House Estates. City Bridge Trust is 
featured. 

London 

P
age 148

http://londonbulletin.co.uk/jewish-charity-awarded-funding-to-expand-scheme-supporting-elderly-carers-i-p6796-325.htm
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/190118/CM%20City%20Bridge%20Trust.PNG
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/190118/CM%20Grenfell%20support.PNG
http://jewishnews.timesofisrael.com/charedi-charity-awarded-87300-to-boost-care-for-elderly/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/25.01.18/LONDONLIVE_01-24-2018_17.33.45.mp4


Date Organisation Publication & 
Weblink 

Readership 
/ Audience 

Detail Coverage 

25/01/18 Action Disability City Matters 
(internal only) 

30,000 An article focussed on a grant to a 
disability group which provides support 
sessions in the borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea. Action Disability will use the 
fund to launch a programme providing 
workshops on computer skills and 
personal development.  

London 

26/01/18 Bikur Cholim Totttenham and 
Woodgreen 
Independent  

18,154 As above Regional 

26/01/18 Bikur Cholim Enfield 
Independent 

50,714 As above Regional 

27/01/18 Bikur Cholim This is Local 
London 

n/a As above Regional 

29/01/18 Charity Commission Third Sector 6,200 A report on the charity sector meeting to 
discuss how to respond to future 
domestic disasters. City Bridge Trust is 
noted as attending.  

National 
trade 

29/01/18 Charity Commission Civil Society 12,000 As above National 
trade 

29/01/18 Charity Commission UK Fundraising 33,000 As above National 
trade 

P
age 149

file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/260118/CM%20CBT.PNG
http://www.thetottenhamindependent.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.thetottenhamindependent.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.thetottenhamindependent.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.enfieldindependent.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.enfieldindependent.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
http://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/15900404.Charity_that_supports_elderly_carers_awarded___90_000/
https://www.thirdsector.co.uk/sector-groups-agree-coordinate-responses-future-domestic-crises/fundraising/article/1455694
https://www.civilsociety.co.uk/news/sector-representatives-agree-collective-framework-for-responding-to-national-emergencies.html
https://fundraising.co.uk/2018/01/29/charity-sector-meets-discuss-role-future-domestic-disaster-response/#.WnA7iDfLeUk


Date Organisation Publication & 
Weblink 

Readership 
/ Audience 

Detail Coverage 

29/01/18 Royal Society for Blind 
Children 

BBC Radio 
London (link not 
available) 

n/a The Trust’s £100,000 grant to the Royal 
Society for Blind Children for a new 
apprenticeship programme was reported 
on during the regular news bulletin. 

London 

31/01/18 National Disasters Wired Gov n/a As above Trade 

31/01/18 Royal Society for Blind 
Children 

Optometry Today n/a As above  Trade 

02/02/18 Royal Society for Blind 
Children 

Optician Online n/a As above National 
trade 

02/02/18 Lord Mayor’s Appeal / 
City Giving Day 

Charity Today 50,000 Coverage of the launch of the Lord 
Mayor’s Appeal’s City Giving Day. City 
Bridge Trust is also referenced.  

National 
trade 

07/02/18 City of London PI Magazine 
(internal only -
pages 33-35) 

N/A An article by Noa Burger, Head of 
Responsible Business at the City of 
London Corporation, talking about the 
basics of setting up a responsible 
business programme. City Bridge Trust is 
referenced. 

National 
trade 

14/02/18 Dragon Awards Recruitment Buzz  N/A Lord Mayor Charles Bowman was quoted 
on the launch of the 2018 Lord Mayor’s 
Dragon Awards, which will take place in 
September. City Bridge Trust is 
mentioned.  

National 
trade 

P
age 150

https://www.wired-gov.net/wg/news.nsf/articles/Charity+sector+comes+together+to+coordinate+future+response+to+national+critical+incidents+30012018122521?open
https://www.aop.org.uk/ot/industry/charity/2018/01/31/supporting-apprenticeships
https://article.signalmedia.co/85dfcf08-e246-481c-bad3-9d03dbb92524?u=fa7a07bf-0043-4d22-bd67-f58aeaa5e37d&origin=news-monitoring-app
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/lord-mayor-calls-city-firms-paint-square-mile-red-celebrate-encourage-charity-work/
file://itsetup1/winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/08%2002%2018/howden-pi-january-2018.pdf
https://recruitmentbuzz.co.uk/call-firms-enter-londons-top-responsible-business-awards/


Date Organisation Publication & 
Weblink 

Readership 
/ Audience 

Detail Coverage 

15/02/18 Homeless Action in 
Barnet  

The Londonist’s n/a A story on the Trust’s £90,000 grant 
given to Homeless Action in Barnet to 
help house 120 rough sleepers over the 
next three years. 

Regional  

16/02/18 Eye Music Trust Pos’Ability 
Magazine  

29,768 An article on a grant for a series of 
therapeutic musical workshops to tour 
London’s special educational needs 
schools in the coming months.  

National 
trade 

16/02/18 Homeless Action in 
Barnet 

Barnet Times 225,000 As above Regional 

19/02/18 Eye Music Trust Charity Today 50,000 As above  National 
trade  

19/02/18 Grenfell grants World Leisure 
News and Jobs 

n/a World Leisure News runs a story about 
job vacancies at Westway Sports centre, 
for activities funded by City Bridge Trust 

National 
Trade  

23/02/18 Helen Bamber 
Foundation 

Evening 
Standard 

884,728 A story in print and online featuring a 
£100,000 City Bridge Trust grant to the 
Helen Bamber Foundation to support 
survivors of human trafficking in London.  

London 

23/02/18 Helen Bamber 
Foundation 

Yahoo n/a As above National 

25/02/18 Age UK / Action Fraud The Carer UK 1,300 An article in about fraud among the over 
65s and a grant from the Trust to tackle 
online scams targeting the elderly.  

National 

25/02/18 Eye Music Trust  Schools Week n/a As above Trade 

P
age 151

http://www.times-series.co.uk/news/15999183.Charity_receives___90k_to_help_rough_sleepers_across_the_borough/
http://posabilitymagazine.co.uk/visual-arts-charity-receives-funding-therapeutic-workshop/
http://posabilitymagazine.co.uk/visual-arts-charity-receives-funding-therapeutic-workshop/
http://www.times-series.co.uk/news/15999183.Charity_receives___90k_to_help_rough_sleepers_across_the_borough/
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/high-tech-musical-programme-takes-over-londons-classrooms/
https://article.signalmedia.co/725ea0c1-ae15-414c-bb72-747be459cd96?u=fa7a07bf-0043-4d22-bd67-f58aeaa5e37d&origin=news-monitoring-app
https://article.signalmedia.co/725ea0c1-ae15-414c-bb72-747be459cd96?u=fa7a07bf-0043-4d22-bd67-f58aeaa5e37d&origin=news-monitoring-app
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/crime/we-need-to-track-the-slavemasters-across-every-continent-says-top-prosecutor-a3773971.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/crime/we-need-to-track-the-slavemasters-across-every-continent-says-top-prosecutor-a3773971.html
https://uk.news.yahoo.com/track-slavemasters-across-every-continent-095200227.html
http://thecareruk.com/age-uk-action-fraud-to-combat-scams-targeting-older-londoners/
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/new-programme-helps-londons-send-pupils-make-music-through-tech/


Date Organisation Publication & 
Weblink 

Readership 
/ Audience 

Detail Coverage 

27/02/18 Age UK / Action Fraud Wired Gov n/a As above Trade 

27/02/18 London Brough of 
Culture 

The Guardian 
 
BBC Online & 
BBC London 
(link not 
available) 
 
The Stage  
 
Barking and 
Dagenham Post 

Total 36.6m Extensive coverage referencing the 
Trust’s financial support of £300,000 
towards the London Borough of Culture 
competition. 

- 

28/02/18 Helen Bamber 
Foundation 

Charity Today 50,000 An article about a £100,000 grant to a 
Camden charity that supports refugees 
and asylum seekers in London who have 
experienced torture and human 
trafficking. 

National 
trade 

28/01/18 Helen Bamber 
Foundation 

London Live 
(transcript) 

250,000 David Farnsworth was interviewed about 
a £100,000 grant to a Camden charity 
that supports refugees and asylum 
seekers in London who have experienced 
torture and human trafficking.  

London 

 

  

P
age 152

https://www.wired-gov.net/wg/news.nsf/articles/New+pilot+programme+to+combat+scams+targeting+older+Londoners+with+Age+UK+26022018092500?open
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/feb/27/waltham-forest-and-brent-named-first-london-boroughs-of-culture
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-london-43211466
https://www.thestage.co.uk/news/2018/waltham-forest-wins-bid-become-first-london-borough-culture/
http://www.barkinganddagenhampost.co.uk/news/politics/barking-and-dagenham-scoops-160-000-at-borough-of-culture-awards-despite-missing-out-on-top-prize-1-5411431
http://www.barkinganddagenhampost.co.uk/news/politics/barking-and-dagenham-scoops-160-000-at-borough-of-culture-awards-despite-missing-out-on-top-prize-1-5411431
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/london-charity-gets-100k-help-human-trafficking-survivors-rebuild-lives/
http://mms.tveyes.com/MediaDownload.asp?MDID=9431239&MDS=5667


City Bridge Trust Events Attended 
16th January 2018 – 28th February 2018 
 

Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

16/01/18 Girdlers' Livery 
Company  

Charity committee Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

City of 
London 

Your Chairman was invited to 
address the Committee. 

17/01/18 The Prince’s Trust Breakfast Event Shegufta Rahman Haymarket 
Hotel, 
Westminster 

Breakfast event with new PT 
CEO, and young people 
supported by PT running 
Q&A session with CEO. 

17/01/18 Centre for Mental 
Health 

Management 
meeting 

Julia Mirkin, Grants 
Officer 

Elephant and 
Castle, 
Southwark 

Update meeting with new 
Project Manager for the 
Bridge to Work - Mental 
Health grant. 

18/01/18 City of London Reception Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

Guildhall Launch of Social Investment 
impact publication. 

18/01/18 Management 
Consultants Livery 
Company 

Dinner Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

City of 
London 

Annual charity dinner. 

18/01/18 Chinese National 
Healthy Living 
Centre 

Reception Ciaran Rafferty House of 
Lords 

A reception to celebrate 30 
years of the charity’s work. 

19/01/18 London 
Funders/Trust for 
London 

Meeting Ciaran Rafferty London 
Funders 

Meeting of funders to 
consider support on key 
disability issues. 

P
age 153



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

23/01/18 London Borough of 
Hounslow 

Funders Fair Shegufta Rahman Hounslow 
Civic Centre 

Annual Funders Fair. 

23/01/18 Ethical Property 
Company  

Launch Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

City of 
London 

Launch of property survey. 

23/01/18 The Baytree Centre Visit David Farnsworth Lambeth A visit to a current Trust 
grantee. 

25/01/18 London’s Giving  Meeting Jenny Field Guildhall A meeting of the London’s 
Giving Reference Group. 

29/01/18 City Bridge Trust Meeting Jenny Field Guildhall A meeting of the Cornerstone 
Fund Reference Group. 

30/01/18 Greenwich 
Foundation 

Event Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

Old Royal 
Naval 
College 

An opportunity to meet the 
new CEO of the Greenwich 
Foundation. 

30/01/18 Citizenship 
Integration Initiative 

Meeting Jenny Field City Hall This initiative, a partnership 
with a number of funders 
including Trust for London, 
GLA, Unbound Philanthropy 
and Paul Hamlyn 
Foundation, is funding 
secondees from civil society 
organisations to sit within the 
GLA’s Social Integration 
Team, in order to develop 
practical, community-based 
projects. 
 

P
age 154



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

30/01/18 City Bridge Trust Meeting Jenny Field Guildhall A round table meeting with 
funders to discuss Funder 
Plus. 

30/01/18 Charity Tax Group Directors Strategy 
meeting 

Karen Atkinson Wellcome 
Trust offices 

Board annual strategy day. 

31/01/18 London Assembly/ Grenfell hearing David Farnsworth City Hall GLA Oversight Committee. 

31/01/18 City Bridge Trust Meeting Ciaran Rafferty, 
James Lee 

Guildhall A network meeting of the 
Bridge to Work grantees and 
Disability rights UK the 
programme evaluators. 

01/02/18 The Lord Mayor and 
The Lady Mayoress 

Reception Sandra Davidson & 
Rebecca Jacobi 
(consultant) 

Mansion 
House  

Reception held for the Lord 
Mayor to say thank you to 
those who took part in the 
2017 Lord Mayor’s Show & 
an opportunity to hear plans 
for 2018. 

01/02/18 The Merchant 
Taylors’ Company 

Meeting Tim Wilson City of 
London 

A discussion about the role 
Livery Companies could play 
in the social investment 
market. 

01/02/18 London Hub  Meeting Jenny Field Guildhall A meeting of the London Hub 
Advisory Group. 
 

P
age 155



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

01/02/18 Bloomberg Meeting Fiona Rawes Bloomberg, 
City of 
London 

Meeting with Jemma Read, 
Director of Philanthropy, to 
discuss our philanthropy 
strategy. 

02/02/18 Place2Be Presentation The Lady Mayoress 
attended with 
Alderman Russell 
Paul Martinelli, 
Geraldine Page 

 An event featuring singing 

and role play by some of the 

children, presentations by 

teachers, mentors and staff 

and a very moving talk by 

one of the parents that had 

benefited. Also in attendance 

were The Lady Mayoress 

and Alderman Russell. 

05/02/18 Mind in Camden Learning Visit Kate Moralee Camden Discussion with applicant 
about the progress of the 
project to date including the 
learning which has/will inform 
the project.  

05/02/18 City Bridge Trust Meeting Jenny Field Guildhall A consultation meeting in 
relation to the Cornerstone 
Fund. 

06/02/18 The Legal 
Education 
Foundation 

Annual Justice First 
Fellowship Dinner 

Shegufta Rahman The Law 
Society 

Annual Justice First 
Fellowship Dinner – 
celebrating completion of the 
programme for second 
cohort. 
 

P
age 156



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

06/02/18 Marshall Institute Lunch Fiona Rawes London 
School of 
Economics 

An invitation from Sir Julian 
Le Grand to speak at an 
informal lunch. 

07/02/18 Barbican Centre Dinner David Farnsworth Barbican Annual Committee dinner 

08/02/18 Bishops Dinner Dinner David Farnsworth Mansion 
House 

Annual dinner hosted by the 
Lord Mayor. 

13/02/18 The Lord Mayor’s 
Appeal Charity 

‘She Can Be…’ 
inaugural event 

Shegufta Rahman, 
Fiona Rawes 

Mansion 
House 

Girlguiding and The Mayor’s 
Appeal joint inaugural event  

16/02/18 City Bridge Trust Information sharing 
session 

Joan Millbank and 
Nadia Large 

Guildhall An information sharing 
session with the eco-auditors 
and access auditors to 
improve their best practice 

17/02/18 Lankelly Chase and 
BSC 

Funders Roundtable Kate Moralee Camden Exploring potential for Trust 
and Foundation partnership 
with MoJ around at risk 
women and those in contact 
with the CJ system. 

19/02/18 Speaker’s 
Parliamentary 
Placement Scheme 

Meeting Ciaran Rafferty, 
James Lee 

Portcullis 
House 

A meeting to discuss 
potential link up with the 
Bridge to Work programme. 

20/02/18 London Funders Healthy London 
Network meeting 

Ciaran Rafferty London 
Marathon 
Trust, 
Bermondsey 

A meeting of funders with an 
interest in this area. 

P
age 157



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

21/02/18 Renaisi and Money 
Advice Service 

Funders Insight and 
evaluation workshop  

Sandra Jones Hackney Workshop of charities, banks 
and the Money Advice 
Service to explore funding 
and advice giving to advice 
organisations and others who 
support people who are in 
debt or where debt is one 
issue faced by people with a 
range of issues.  

22/02/18 Living Streets Event Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

LB of 
Redbridge 

The Walkable London event 

22/02/18 Cranfield Trust Roundtable & 
reception 

Chairman Alison 
Gowman, David 
Farnsworth, Tim 
Wilson, Martin Hall 

Saddlers' Hall A discussion with charities 
and funders of Funder Plus 
schemes, followed by a 
Reception with the Princess 
Royal. 

25/02/18 Cripplegate 
Foundation 

Funding Panel for 
Islington Giving 

Kate Moralee Islington  Reviewing recommendations 
approving grant awards to 
recommended applicants.  

26/02/18 Association of 
Charitable 
Foundations 

Funders’ meeting Ciaran Rafferty King’s Cross A meeting to look at issues 
arising from the recent issues 
concerning safeguarding 
within charities 

P
age 158



Date Host Organisation Type of Event 
City of London’s 
Representative 

Location / 
Borough 

Summary 

27/02/18 Greater London 
Authority 

Award ceremony Chairman Alison 
Gowman, Deputy 
Chairman Dhruv 
Patel, Ciaran 
Rafferty, Jack Joslin 

City Hall An event to announce the 
winners of the London 
Borough of Culture hosted by 
the Mayor of London, Sadiq 
Khan. The Trust were 
thanked for their support. 

27/02/18 London Councils Meeting Chairman Alison 
Gowman 

Southwark A meeting of the Leadership 
in the Third Sector group 

 

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 160



Document is Restricted

Page 161

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 165

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 173

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 CBT Business Plan 2018/19
	A+ - Appendix 1  - CBT Business plan 2018-2019
	A++ - Appendix 2 - CBT Business Plan 2018-19

	6 Progress Report
	7 Grant Applications Statistical Report
	8 Grants and Strategic Initiatives Recommendations and Assessments
	8a Buttle UK
	8b Heart of the City (HOTC)
	8c John Lyon's Charity/Young People's Foundations
	8d Moving on Up Project/Trust for London - Phase Two
	8e Women for Women Refugees
	8f BANG Edutainment Ltd
	8g Children's Trust
	8h Down's Syndrome Association
	8i Parochial Church Council of St. Mary, Stoke Newington
	8j Rethink Mental Illness
	8k Sense
	8l Community Empowerment and Support Initiatives (CESI)
	8m Royal Hospital Chelsea
	8n Saint Francis Hospice
	8o Alternatives Trust East London
	8p Community Links Trust Ltd
	8q Deptford Reach
	8r Hammersmith and Fulham Law Centre
	8s Help Somalia Foundation
	8t TaxAid UK
	9a The Prince's Trust Strategic Grant
	9b Grants Recommended for Rejection
	9c Grants Approved under Delegated Authority
	9d Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications
	9e Variations to Grants Awarded
	9f Reports on Learning Visits
	J+ - Learning visit report - Eastside Community Heritage
	J++ - Learning visit report - GlobalGiving UK

	9g City Bridge Trust Communications and Events Attended
	13 Non-Public Minutes
	15 Moving On Up Project/Trust for London - Phase Two
	16 Cornerstone Fund - Draft Funding Priorities
	17 Pipeline of Pro-Active Strategic Grants

